Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review)

Demicheli V, Jefferson T, Rivetti A, Price D



This is a reprint of a Cochrane review, prepared and maintained by The Cochrane Collaboration and published in *The Cochrane Library* 2006, Issue 2

http://www.thecochranelibrary.com



Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review) Copyright 0 2006 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	1
BACKGROUND	2
OBJECTIVES	3
CRITERIA FOR CONSIDERING STUDIES FOR THIS REVIEW	3
SEARCH METHODS FOR IDENTIFICATION OF STUDIES	3
METHODS OF THE REVIEW	4
DESCRIPTION OF STUDIES	5
METHODOLOGICAL QUALITY	6
RESULTS	6
DISCUSSION	9
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	10
POTENTIAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST	10
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	10
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	10
REFERENCES	10
TABLES	17
Characteristics of included studies	17
Characteristics of excluded studies	27
ADDITIONAL TABLES	30
Table 01. Summary of salient characteristic of RCTs and CCTs included in the review	30
Table 02. Reporting of temp. in RCTs (MMR versus single components/placebo/do-nothing)	31
Table 03. Summary of salient characteristics of Cohort studies included in the review	31
Table 04. Summary of salient characteristics of other study designs included in the review	32
GRAPHS AND OTHER TABLES	32
INDEX TERMS	32
COVER SHEET	32

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review)

Demicheli V, Jefferson T, Rivetti A, Price D

This record should be cited as:

Demicheli V, Jefferson T, Rivetti A, Price D. Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2005, Issue 4. Art. No.: CD004407.pub2. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004407.pub2.

This version first published online: 19 October 2005 in Issue 4, 2005. Date of most recent substantive amendment: 16 August 2005

ABSTRACT

Background

Public debate over the safety of the trivalent measles, mumps and rubella (MMR) vaccine, and the resultant drop in vaccination rates in several countries, persists despite its almost universal use and accepted effectiveness.

Objectives

We carried out a systematic review to assess the evidence of effectiveness and unintended effects associated with MMR.

Search strategy

We searched the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) (*The Cochrane Library* Issue 4, 2004), MEDLINE (1966 to December 2004), EMBASE (1974 to December 2004), Biological Abstracts (from 1985 to December 2004), and Science Citation Index (from 1980 to December 2004). Results from reviews, handsearching and from the consultation of manufacturers and authors were also used.

Selection criteria

Eligible studies were comparative prospective or retrospective trials testing the effects of MMR compared to placebo, do-nothing or a combination of measles, mumps and rubella antigens on healthy individuals up to 15 years of age. These studies were carried out or published by 2004.

Data collection and analysis

We identified 139 articles possibly satisfying our inclusion criteria and included 31 in the review.

Main results

MMR was associated with a lower incidence of upper respiratory tract infections, a higher incidence of irritability, and similar incidence of other adverse effects compared to placebo. The vaccine was likely to be associated with benign thrombocytopenic purpura, parotitis, joint and limb complaints, febrile convulsions within two weeks of vaccination and aseptic meningitis (mumps) (Urabe strain-containing MMR). Exposure to MMR was unlikely to be associated with Crohn's disease, ulcerative colitis, autism or aseptic meningitis (mumps) (Jeryl-Lynn strain-containing MMR). We could not identify studies assessing the effectiveness of MMR that fulfilled our inclusion criteria even though the impact of mass immunisation on the elimination of the disease has been largely demonstrated.

Authors' conclusions

The design and reporting of safety outcomes in MMR vaccine studies, both pre- and post-marketing, are largely inadequate. The evidence of adverse events following immunisation with MMR cannot be separated from its role in preventing the target diseases.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Using the combined vaccine for protection of children against measles, mumps and rubella

Measles, mumps and rubella are three very dangerous infectious diseases which cause a heavy disease, disability and death burden in the developing world. Researchers from the Cochrane Vaccines Field reviewed 139 studies conducted to assess the effects of the live

attenuated combined vaccine to prevent measles, mumps and rubella (MMR) in children. MMR protects children against infections of the upper airways but very rarely may cause a benign form of bleeding under the skin and milder forms of measles, mumps and rubella. No credible evidence of an involvement of MMR with either autism or Crohn's disease was found. No field studies of the vaccine's effectiveness were found but the impact of mass immunisation on the elimination of the diseases has been demonstrated worldwide.

BACKGROUND

Mumps, measles and rubella are serious diseases that can lead to potentially fatal illness, disability and death. Measles, mumps and rubella are particularly prevalent in developing countries where vaccination programmes are inconsistent and the mortality rate from disease is high. In developed countries, however, mumps, measles and rubella are now rare, due to large-scale vaccination programmes.

The single component live attenuated vaccines of measles, mumps, and rubella have been licensed in the USA since the 1960s (Plotkin 1999a; Plotkin 1999b; Redd 1999). These single vaccines have been shown to be highly effective at reducing the morbidity and mortality associated with these childhood illnesses.

Nevertheless, no country recommends that measles, mumps, and rubella be given as three separate vaccines. Combined live attenuated measles, mumps and rubella (MMR) vaccine was introduced in the United States in the 1970s (Redd 1999; Schwarz 1975). MMR is included in the World Health Organisation's 'Expanded Programme on Immunisation' and it is used in over 30 European countries, USA, Canada, Australia and New Zealand. In total, over 90 countries around the world use MMR. Accepted recommendations are that the first dose should be administered on or after the first birthday and the second dose of MMR at least 28 days later. In many European countries the second dose is administered at 4 to 10 years of age. Vaccination with MMR provides significant improvement in the efficiency of paediatric immunisation through the administration of three vaccines in a single injection, important in reducing costs while increasing immunisation coverage against the three diseases (Makino 1990). The incidence of measles, mumps, and rubella worldwide has been significantly reduced by MMR vaccination (WHO 1999).

The capability of MMR mass immunisation to eliminate the targeted disease has been demonstrated in a number of countries. The United States is the largest country to have ended endemic measles transmission (Strebel 2004), with interruption of indigenous transmission in 1993 (Watson 1998). In Finland, a national programme launched in 1982 reached measles elimination in 1996 and in 1999 the country was documented as free of indigenous mumps and rubella (Peltola 2000). These experiences demonstrate the possibility of achieving interruption of transmission in large geographic areas and suggest the feasibility of global eradication of measles; therefore, it would be ethically unacceptable to conduct placebo-controlled trials to assess vaccine effects. Current research about the effectiveness of MMR vaccines focuses on comparison of vaccine strains and optimising protection by modifying the immunisation schedules: these topics are outside the scope of the present review.

A retrospective study (Kreidl 2003) reported data about MMRvaccination coverage for local areas in South Tyrol and cases of measles notified in the same areas. In all areas with complete vaccination coverage below 50%, an incidence of at least 333 cases per 100,000 was observed; whereas a very low incidence of the disease was registered in those areas where the highest immunisation coverage was achieved, despite their higher population density.

The only retrospective observational study, which seemed to show an unexpectedly low clinical efficacy (Vandermeulen 2004)), was carried out on 1825 children aged between 15 months and 11 years. It examined the incidence of mumps in seven kindergartens and primary schools in Belgium during a mumps outbreak. This was assessed using questionnaires completed by parents and following evaluation of the reported data according to the Center for Disease Control (CDC) (CDC 1997) case definition. On average, 91.8% of the children had received at least one dose of MMR vaccine at any time before the outbreak occurred. In this group (n = 1641) mumps was diagnosed in 85 children whereas 20 out of the 139 non-immunised children developed mumps (45 children from both groups were excluded from the analysis because they had history of mumps prior to the outbreak).

The component of monovalent vaccine containing measles, mumps and rubella viruses, and subsequently combined MMR vaccine, are described below (Makino 1990; Plotkin 1999b). Numerous attenuated measles vaccines, mostly derived from the Edmonston strain, are currently produced worldwide. Four vaccines containing non-Edmonston derived strains are also in use, including Leningrad-16, Shanghai-191, CAM-70 and TD97. In most cases the virus is cultured in chick embryo cells; however, a few vaccines are attenuated in human diploid cells. The majority of vaccines contain small doses of antibiotics (for example 25 µg of neomycin per dose), but some do not. Sorbitol and gelatin are used as stabilisers (Schwarz 1975).

More than ten mumps vaccine strains (Jeryl Lynn, Urabe, Hoshino, Rubini, Leningrad-3, L-Zagreb, Miyahara, Torii, NK M-46, S-12 and RIT 4385) have been used throughout the world (Redd 1999). Most vaccines also contain neomycin (25 µg of per dose). The Jeryl Lynn strain is widely used. Several manufacturers in Japan and Europe produce a live mumps vaccine containing the Urabe Am9 virus strain. Concerns about vaccine-associated meningitis have, however, prompted some countries to stop using MMR with the mumps Urabe strain. Often the viruses are cultured in chick embryo fibroblasts (as with the Jeryl Lynn and Urabe strain-containing vaccines), but quail and human embryo fibroblasts are also used for some vaccines.

Most rubella vaccines used throughout the world contain the RA 27/3 virus strain (Plotkin 1965). The only exceptions are vaccines produced in Japan which use different virus strains: Matsuba, DCRB 19, Takahashi, and TO- 336, all produced using rabbit kidney cells; and Matsuura produced on quail embryo fibroblasts. The RA 27/3 strain is used most often because of consistent immunogenicity, induction of resistance to re-infection, and low rate of side effects (Plotkin 1973). The live virus produces viraemia and pharyngeal excretion but both are of low magnitude and are non-communicable (Plotkin 1999a).

At least five MMR vaccines are known of:

(1) Triviraten Berna vaccine is live containing 1000 TCID50 (50% tissue culture infectious doses) of Edmonston-Zagreb (EZ 19) measles strain, 5000 TCID50 of Rubini mumps strain, and 1000 TCID50 of Wistar RA 27/3 rubella strain propagated on human diploid cells. The product contains lactose (14 mg), human albumin (8.8 mg), sodium bicarbonate (0.3 mg), medium 199 (5.7 mg) and distilled water as solvent.

(2) M-M-R by Merck is a live virus vaccine. It is a sterile lyophilised preparation of 1000 TCID50 Enders' attenuated Edmonston measles strain propagated in chick embryo cell culture; mumps 20000 TCID50 Jeryl Lynn strain propagated in chick embryo cell culture; and rubella 1000 TCID50 Wistar RA 27/3 propagated on human diploid lung fibroblasts. The growth medium is medium 199 (5.7 mg) used with neomycin as stabiliser.

(3) Morupar by Chiron is a live virus vaccine. It contains a sterile lyophilised preparation of 1000 TCID50 of Schwarz measles strain propagated in chick embryo cell culture; 1000 TCID50 Wistar RA 27/3 rubella strain propagated on human diploid lung fibroblasts; and 5000 TCID50 Urabe AM 9 mumps propagated in chick embryo cell culture, with neomycin as stabiliser.

(4) Priorix vaccine, Glaxo SmithKline Beecham (GSK), is a lyophilised mixed preparation of the attenuated Schwarz measles CCID50 (50% cell culture infective dose) strain; RIT 4385 mumps CCID50 (derived from Jeryl Lynn strain); and CCID50 Wistar RA 27/3 rubella strain of viruses. These are separately obtained by propagation either in chick embryo tissue cultures (mumps and measles) or MRC5 human diploid cells (rubella). The vaccine also contains residual amounts of neomycin (25 µg per dose).

(5) Trimovax by Pasteur-Merieux Serums and Vaccines contains live virus: Schwarz measles strain, 1000 TCID50; Urabe Am 9 mumps strain, 5000 TCID50; and Wistar RA 27/3 rubella strain, 1000TCID50. Despite its worldwide use, no systematic reviews of the effectiveness and safety of MMR are available.

OBJECTIVES

To review the existing evidence on the absolute effectiveness of MMR vaccine in children (by the effect of the vaccine on the incidence of clinical cases of measles, mumps and rubella). To assess in children the worldwide occurrence of adverse events, including those that are common, rare, short and long-term, following exposure to MMR.

CRITERIA FOR CONSIDERING STUDIES FOR THIS REVIEW

Types of studies

We included all comparative prospective or retrospective studies (see Appendix 1 in the Methods section).

Types of participants

Healthy individuals aged up to 15 years of age.

Types of intervention

Vaccination with any combined MMR vaccine given independently, in any dose, preparation or time schedule compared with do-nothing or placebo.

Types of outcome measures

(1) Clinical cases: measles, mumps or rubella.

(2) Number and type of adverse events observed following MMR vaccination: classified as local or systemic.

(3) Systemic adverse events: including fever, rash, vomiting, diarrhoea and more generalised and severe signs including all the potential adverse events which have been hypothesised so far (thrombocytopenic purpura, parotitis, joint and limb symptoms, Crohn's disease, ulcerative colitis, autism, aseptic meningitis).

(4) Local adverse events: including soreness and redness at the site of inoculation.

SEARCH METHODS FOR IDENTIFICATION OF STUDIES

See: Acute Respiratory Infections Group methods used in reviews.

For effectiveness:

we searched the Cochrane Acute Respiratory Infections (ARI) Group Trials Register, the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) (*The Cochrane Library* Issue 4, 2004), and MEDLINE (1966 to December 2004) to identify randomised and quasi-randomised controlled trials identified

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review) Copyright 0 2006 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

through electronic databases and handsearches. The following search terms were used.

MEDLINE (Webspirs) # 1 explode 'Vaccines-Combined' / all subheadings # 2 explode 'Vaccines-Attenuated' / all subheadings # 3 #1 or #2 # 4 trivalen* or combin* or simultan* or tripl* or trebl* # 5 vaccin* or immuni* or inoculat* # 6 # 4 and # 5 #7#3 or#6 # 8 explode 'Measles-' / all subheadings # 9 explode 'Mumps-' / all subheadings # 10 explode 'Rubella-' / all subheadings # 11 measles and mumps and rubella # 12 #8 or #9 or #10 or #11 # 13 #7 and #12 # 14 explode 'Measles-Vaccine' #15 explode 'Mumps-Vaccine' #16 explode 'Rubella-Vaccine' #17 explode 'Measles-Mumps-Rubella-Vaccine' / all subheadings #18 measles mumps rubella or MMR #19 #14 or #15 or #16 or #17 or #18 #20 #13 or #19

These subject terms were adapted to search the other databases: EMBASE was searched (from 1980 to the end of 2004) to identify controlled trials in combination with subject terms adapted for EMBASE; Biological Abstracts (1985 to the end of 2004); Science Citation Index (1980 to present). We also searched the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews (CDSR) and NHS Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects (DARE) for published reviews. We searched bibliographies of all relevant articles obtained and any published reviews for additional studies. We also searched the following sources for unpublished, prospectively registered trials: http://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ and http://www.controlled-trials.com/.

In addition, we contacted vaccine manufacturers, companies that market vaccines, first or corresponding authors of studies evaluated and researchers or experts in the field, where appropriate, to identify any unpublished studies. There were no language restrictions.

For safety:

we searched Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) (*The Cochrane Library* Issue 4, 2004) to identify reports of randomised and quasi-randomised controlled trials and published reviews in CDSR and DARE. The Cochrane Library was searched to identify reports from the results of handsearching the journal Vaccine (1983 to 2004).

We also searched MEDLINE (1966 to December 2004) using the following search terms.

MEDLINE (OVID)

1 Vaccines-Combined [mesh word (mh)] 2 Vaccines-Attenuated 3 ((trivalen*[text word (tw)] or combin* (tw) or simultan* (tw) or tripl* (tw) or trebl* (tw) and (vaccin* (tw) or immuni* (tw) or inoculat* (tw))) 4 or/1-3 5 measles (tw) and mumps (tw) and rubella (tw) 64 and 5 7 Measles-Vaccine(mh) and Mumps-Vaccine (mh) and Rubella-Vaccine (mh) 8 MMR [title, abstract (ti,ab)] 9 (measles (tw) and mumps (tw) and rubella (tw) and (vaccin* (tw) or immuni* (tw) or inoculat* (tw)) 10 or/6-9 11 adverse events [floating sub-heading (fs)] or chemically induced (fs) or complications (fs) or contraindications (fs) or toxicity (fs) or poisoning (fs) or drug effects (fs) 12 ((adverse (tw) near (effect* (tw) or event* (tw)) or side effect* (tw) or hypersensitiv* (tw) or sensitiv* (tw) or safe* (tw) or pharmacovigil* (tw) 13 explode Product-Surveillance-Postmarketing (mh) or Drug-Monitoring (mh) or Drug-Evaluation (mh) or explode Risk (mh) or Odds-Ratio (mh) or explode Causality (mh) 14 relative risk (tw) or risk (tw) or causation (tw) or causal (tw) or odds ratio (tw) or etiol* (tw) or aetiol* (tw) or etiology (fs) or epidemiology (fs) 15 or/11-14 16 10 and 15

This filter was adapted for searching EMBASE (1980 to the end of 2004), Biological Abstracts (1985 to the end of 2004), and Science Citation Index (1980 to the end of 2004). We assessed bibliographies of all relevant articles and any published reviews for additional studies. There were no language restrictions.

METHODS OF THE REVIEW

Study selection

Two authors independently applied the inclusion criteria to all identified and retrieved articles.

Quality assessment

Two authors independently assessed the methodological quality of the included studies. The quality of randomised and semirandomised trials was assessed using the criteria adapted from the Cochrane Reviewers' Handbook (Clarke 2003). Quality assessment of non-randomised studies was made in relation to the presence of potential confounders which could make interpretation of the results difficult. However, because there is insufficient empirical evidence to demonstrate the validity of the non-randomised quality assessment screens, these studies were used for the purposes of qualitative analysis only.

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review) Copyright © 2006 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd We evaluated the quality of case control (prospective and retrospective) and cohort studies using the appropriate Newcastle-Ottawa Scales (NOS) (Wells 2000). We applied quality control assessment grids, based on those developed by The University of York, NHS Centre for Reviews and Dissemination (Khan 2001), to historical controlled trial (HCTs), interrupted time-series and case cross-over studies, and ecological studies. For case-only design studies, we used a classification and methodological quality checklist (unpublished) especially developed by CP Farrington and TO Jefferson and adapted from a paper by CP Farrington (Farrington 2004).

Data extraction

Two authors independently performed data extraction using a data extraction form.

Statistical considerations

We firstly assessed included studies for clinical homogeneity. As we found diversity of exposure, outcomes and length of follow up, we decided against pooling data and carried out a descriptive review.

Appendix 1 (based on: Farrington 2004; Jefferson 1999; Last 2001)

A **case-control study** is an epidemiological study usually used to investigate the causes of disease. Study participants who have experienced an adverse outcome or disease are compared with participants who have not. Any differences in the presence or absence of hypothesised risk factors are noted.

A **cohort study** is an epidemiological study where groups of individuals are identified who vary in their exposure to an intervention or hazard and are followed to assess outcomes. Association between exposure and outcome are then estimated. Cohort studies are best performed prospectively but can also be undertaken retrospectively if suitable data records are available.

An **historical controlled trial** (HCT) is a study with control participants for whom data were collected at a time preceding that at which the data are gathered on the group being studied.

Indirect comparisons are comparisons of the two or more index groups with a control (usually in randomly allocated groups). The comparisons are usually not contemporaneous and inference is made from the comparisons to the general population.

A **randomised controlled trial** (RCT) is any study on humans in which the individuals (or other experimental units) followed in the study were definitely or possibly assigned prospectively to one of two (or more) alternative forms of health care using random allocation.

A **controlled clinical trial** (CCT) is any study on humans in which the individuals (or other experimental units) followed in the study were definitely or possibly assigned prospectively to one of two (or more) alternative forms of health care using some quasirandom method of allocation (such as alternation, date of birth or case record number).

A **time-series** is a comparative design with controls in which measurements are made at different times to allow trend detection and before-and-after exposure assessment.

Case-only design studies

An **ecological study** is a study in which the units of analysis are populations or groups of people rather than individuals. Inference is then made by observing the difference in incidence between populations of the event in question.

A **case-crossover study** is a design in which exposures of individuals during one period is compared by matched-pair analyses to their own exposure during a preceding period of similar length.

Case-coverage design is a study comparing prevalence of exposure in individuals with exposure in the reference population. No denominator data are required and the population coverage information is derived from summary statistics. When coverage information is derived from a population sample, the design is that of a case-base study.

A **self-controlled case series** uses individuals as their own controls. The ages at vaccination are regarded as fixed and the age at the time of an adverse event is the random variable of interest within a pre-determined observation period.

DESCRIPTION OF STUDIES

Our searches identified approximately 5,000 articles for screening, a large number of studies because of the deliberately broad search design. Previous research had demonstrated that adverse event data are not indexed consistently and up to 25% of studies reporting adverse event data are not identified through standard searching techniques (Derry 2001). After screening, 139 studies possibly fulfilling our inclusion criteria were retrieved. The data sets of eight studies which were published several times (redundant publications) were only considered once. One hundred and nineteen studies not meeting all criteria were excluded while 31 were included in the review. We could find no comparative studies assessing the effectiveness of MMR that fitted our inclusion criteria as all had serological outcomes.

The studies included in the review were as follows: five randomised controlled trials (RCTs) (Bloom 1975; Edees 1991; Lerman 1981; Peltola 1986; Schwarz 1975); one controlled clinical trial (CCT) (Ceyhan 2001); fourteen cohort studies (Beck 1989; Benjamin 1992; DeStefano 2002; Dunlop 1989; Fombonne 2001; Madsen 2002; Makela 2002: Making 1980; Miller 1980; Pehertson 1983; Stoles 1971;

2002; Dunlop 1989; Fombonne 2001; Madsen 2002; Makela 2002; Makino 1990; Miller 1989; Robertson 1988; Stokes 1971; Swartz 1974; Vestergaard 2004; Weibel 1980);

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review)

Copyright $\textcircled{\sc 0}$ 2006 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

five case-control studies (Black 1997; Black 2003; Davis 2001; DeStefano 2004; Smeeth 2004); three time-series trials (da Cunha 2002; Dourado 2000; Freeman 1993); one case-crossover trial (Park 2004); one ecological trial (Jonville-Bera 1996);

one self-controlled case series trial (Taylor 1999).

One study (Freeman 1993) had a mixed RCT and time-series design and was classified as the latter because adverse event data comparison was carried out on outcomes in children before and after vaccination. Studies reported as 'field trials' or 'controlled trials' were classified as cohort studies when randomisation was not mentioned.

Ten studies included data on effectiveness and safety outcomes (Ceyhan 2001; Dunlop 1989; Edees 1991; Lerman 1981; Makino 1990; Robertson 1988; Schwarz 1975; Stokes 1971; Swartz 1974; Weibel 1980), one was unclear (Beck 1989) and the remaining 20 reported safety outcomes.

METHODOLOGICAL QUALITY

The reporting of information on vaccine content and the schedule used varied considerably between studies. No study, across all designs, reported complete vaccine identification information, including: lot numbers, adjuvants, preservatives, strains, product and manufacturer. Twelve studies failed to report any vaccine strains (Benjamin 1992; Black 2003; Bloom 1975; DeStefano 2002; DeStefano 2004; Fombonne 2001; Freeman 1993; Park 2004; Peltola 1986; Smeeth 2004; Stokes 1971; Taylor 1999). Fourteen studies reported all strains contained in the tested MMR (Beck 1989; Ceyhan 2001; Dunlop 1989; Edees 1991; Jonville-Bera 1996; Lerman 1981; Madsen 2002; Makela 2002; Makino 1990; Peltola 1986; Robertson 1988; Schwarz 1975; Swartz 1974; Vestergaard 2004) while three reported the strain for a single component of MMR only (da Cunha 2002; Dourado 2000; Weibel 1980). Complete information on the schedule, doses and route of administration was available for five studies (Bloom 1975; Lerman 1981; Makino 1990; Robertson 1988; Swartz 1974).

Thirteen recent studies reported definitions for all possible adverse events monitored for (Black 1997; Black 2003; da Cunha 2002; Davis 2001; DeStefano 2002; DeStefano 2004; Dourado 2000; Fombonne 2001; Jonville-Bera 1996; Makela 2002; Park 2004; Smeeth 2004; Vestergaard 2004), three of these were single eventspecific studies (Black 2003; DeStefano 2002; Jonville-Bera 1996). Six studies had no definitions of any safety outcomes measured beyond a description of temperature measurement ranges (Ceyhan 2001; Beck 1989; Bloom 1975; Lerman 1981; Stokes 1971; Swartz 1974). Four studies had one outcome with a description (Dunlop 1989; Makino 1990; Robertson 1988; Weibel 1980) and five studies had more than one outcome with a description (Edees 1991; Freeman 1993; Miller 2002; Peltola 1986; Schwarz 1975). Of the 15 studies that monitored temperature, five gave no further description either of a numerical range or a base reading (Dunlop 1989; Freeman 1993; Miller 1989; Peltola 1986; Swartz 1974).

Six studies reported no participants missing for adverse event monitoring (Cevhan 2001; DeStefano 2002; Edees 1991; Robertson 1988; Stokes 1971; Swartz 1974). In one case it was not possible to determine if participants were missing (Weibel 1980). Of the seventeen studies with clearly missing unintended-event data, three had less than 10% missing from all arms (Benjamin 1992; Dunlop 1989; Lerman 1981), four had between 11% to 20% missing (Bloom 1975; Madsen 2002; Makela 2002; Smeeth 2004), eight had between 20% to 60% missing (Beck 1989; Black 2003; Freeman 1993; Makino 1990; Miller 1989; Park 2004; Peltola 1986; Schwarz 1975) and in two studies the number of children missing from both arms could not be determined (Dourado 2000; Jonville-Bera 1996). Eight studies (Beck 1989; DeStefano 2004; Freeman 1993; Lerman 1981; Makela 2002; Park 2004; Peltola 1986; Schwarz 1975) provided inadequate explanations for missing data, including one in which no explanations were offered (Beck 1989). Two recent studies had discrepancies in reporting of denominators (Makela 2002; Vestergaard 2004) while one (DeStefano 2004) excluded more than third of cases.

Information on study population and enrolment process was insufficient in ten studies (Beck 1989; Ceyhan 2001; Freeman 1993; Lerman 1981; Makino 1990; Peltola 1986; Robertson 1988; Schwarz 1975; Weibel 1980); in a further seven studies the population description raised doubts about the generalisability of the conclusions to other settings (Dourado 2000; Dunlop 1989; Edees 1991; Fombonne 2001; Jonville-Bera 1996; Miller 1989; Swartz 1974). We were uncertain as to the power and generalisability of the findings from the single case-only design study (Taylor 1999).

In the GPRD - based studies (Black 2003; Smeeth 2004) the precise nature of controlled unexposed to MMR and their generalisability was impossible to determine.

RESULTS

RCTs and CCTs

MMR vaccines were compared with monovalent measles vaccine (Ceyhan 2001; Edees 1991; Lerman 1981), two types of monovalent mumps and rubella vaccines (Lerman 1981) or placebo (Bloom 1975; Lerman 1981; Peltola 1986; Schwarz 1975).

One trial (Peltola 1986), carried out in twins, reported a possible protective effect of MMR with lower incidence of respiratory symptoms; nausea and vomiting, or either alone; and no difference in incidence of other unintended effects compared with placebo, with the exception of irritability. Another trial concluded that there was no increased clinical reactivity with an MMR containing two strains of rubella (Lerman 1981).

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review) Copyright © 2006 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd The trial by Edees concluded that there was no significant difference between the numbers of children developing symptoms after MMR or measles vaccination (Edees 1991). The trials by Bloom and Schwarz concluded that the incidence of raised temperature, rash, lymphadenopathy, coryza, rhinitis, cough, local reactions or limb and joint symptoms were not significantly different from placebo (Bloom 1975; Schwarz 1975).

We classified two trials as being at low risk of bias (Lerman 1981; Peltola 1986), two trials at moderate risk (Ceyhan 2001; Edees 1991) and two trials at high risk of bias (Bloom 1975; Schwarz 1975) (Table 01). The Peltola trial was unique in reporting the vaccine excipients (adjuvant and preservatives) and being the sole RCT designed to assess safety only (Peltola 1986). The extent to which the study results from three of the trials provide a correct basis for applicability to other settings is debatable (Ceyhan 2001; Edees 1991; Lerman 1981). In the Ceyhan (Ceyhan 2001) and Lerman (Lerman 1981) trials, the selection of paediatric practices involved in the recruitment of children was not explained and the number and assessment of non-responders were not reported (Lerman 1981). Similarly in the Edees trial (Edees 1991) there are few details on the refusal and response rate during the recruitment phase and a lack of demographic information from the two UK areas where the trial was conducted.

The trials by Edees and Ceyhan were single blind (parents only) and unblended, respectively. We considered to have a moderate risk of detection bias affecting the outcomes (Ceyhan 2001; Edees 1991). The reasons for not blinding the researchers during the collection and collation of the parent-completed questionnaires were unclear. In the two trials assessed as being at high risk of reporting bias, adverse effects were reported for only 60% (Bloom 1975) and 39% (Schwarz 1975) of participants.

All RCTs and CCTs reported a wide range of outcomes and used different terms, often with no definition. For example, body temperature higher than 38 degrees Centigrade was measured or reported in 16 ways. When reported, different temperature increments, recording methods, observation periods and incidence made comparisons between trials and pooling of data impossible (Table 02).

Cobort Studies

We included fourteen cohort studies altogether. They compared MMR with single measles vaccine (Dunlop 1989; Makino 1990; Miller 1989; Robertson 1988), mumps-rubella vaccine (Swartz 1974), single mumps vaccine (Makino 1990), single rubella vaccine (Swartz 1974; Weibel 1980), placebo (Beck 1989) or no intervention (Benjamin 1992; DeStefano 2002; Fombonne 2001; Madsen 2002; Makela 2002; Stokes 1971; Vestergaard 2004).

The study by Benjamin found that MMR was associated with an increased risk of episodes of joint and limb symptoms in girls less than five years of age (Benjamin 1992).

There was no difference in the incidence of common outcomes such as fever, rash, cough, lymphadenopathy, arthralgia, myalgia and anorexia between MMR and: rubella vaccine (Makino 1990; Swartz 1974; Weibel 1980), mumps-rubella vaccine (Swartz 1974), single mumps vaccine (Makino 1990) or measles vaccine (Dunlop 1989; Makino 1990). Two studies (Miller 1989; Robertson 1988) found that symptoms were similar following MMR and measles vaccination except for a higher incidence of parotitis following MMR (Miller 1989). Makino reported a higher incidence of diarrhoea in the MMR arm compared to the single measles or rubella vaccines arms (Makino 1990). The studies by Beck and Stokes reported no difference in the incidence of rash and lymphadenopathy between MMR and placebo (Beck 1989) or donothing (Stokes 1971). Stokes (Stokes 1971), however, reported an increase in the incidence of fever in the period day 5 to day 12 postvaccination but Beck reported no difference (Beck 1989).

The study by Madsen reported no increased risk of autism or other autistic spectrum disorders between vaccinated and unvaccinated children (Madsen 2002). The interpretation of the study by Madsen was made difficult by the unequal length of follow up for younger cohort members as well as the use of date of diagnosis rather than onset of symptoms for autism (Madsen 2002).

The study by Vestergaard (Vestergaard 2004) was a large (537,171 Danish children) retrospective cohort study assessing a possible association between MMR (containing the Moraten, Jeryl Lyn and Wistar strains of the three viral antigens, respectively) and febrile seizures or epilepsy in children aged three months to five years. The authors reported that the rate of febrile seizures was significantly higher during the first (risk ratio (RR) 2.46, 95% confidence interval (CI) and second (RR 3.17, 95% CI) weeks after vaccination but not thereafter. Overall, MMR was associated with a higher risk of febrile seizures (RR 1.1, 95% CI 1.05 to 1.15). These are plausible conclusions given that MMR is a viral live attenuated vaccine. There appeared to be no association with a family history of febrile seizures but there was a four-fold increase in risk of seizures within the first two weeks after MMR in siblings of children with epilepsy and a 19% increase in the risk of a second febrile seizure. Overall, this was a well-reported, powerful study with credible conclusions as all possible efforts to account for confounders were made.

The retrospective cohort study by Fombonne et al tested several causal hypotheses and mechanisms of association between exposure to MMR and pervasive development disorders (PDD). The population was made up of three cohorts of participants; one was of older children acting as the control (pre-MMR introduction). The authors concluded that there was no evidence that PDD had become more frequent, the mean age at parental concern had not moved closer to the date of exposure to MMR, there was no evidence that regression with autism had become more common, parents of autistic children with regression did not become concerned about their child in a different time frame from that of

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review) Copyright © 2006 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd children without regression, and children with regressive autism did not have different profiles or severity to those in the control group; nor was there evidence that regressive autism was associated with inflammatory bowel disorders (Fombonne 2001).

The number and possible impact of biases in this study was so high that interpretation of the results was difficult (Fombonne 2001).

The retrospective person-time cohort study by Makela assessed the association between exposure to MMR and encephalitis (EN), aseptic meningitis (AM) and autism (AU) in a cohort of 535,544 Finnish children (95% of the surveillance cohort); the children were aged one to seven years at the time of vaccination. The authors compared the incidence of outcomes in the first three months after vaccination with the incidence in the following months and years. They concluded that there was no evidence of association. The study was weakened by the loss of 14% of the original birth cohort and the effects of the rather long time frame of follow up. What the impact of either of these factors was in terms of confounders is open to debate, however the long follow up for autism was due to the lack of a properly constructed causal hypothesis (Makela 2002).

DeStefano reported a large retrospective data-linked cohort study carried out on 167,240 children who were enrolled in four large health maintenance organisations in the US, from 1991 to 1997 (DeStefano 2002). The study tested the evidence for an association between childhood vaccinations (including MMR) and asthma. The authors concluded that there was evidence of a weak increased risk of childhood asthma following exposure to other vaccines but not MMR, regardless of age at first vaccination. Vaccine coverage and the structure of comparisons was unclear, raising the possibility of bias (DeStefano 2002).

Only the study by Vestergaard was judged to have a low probability of bias (Vestergaard 2004). Four studies were classified to be at moderate risk of bias (Benjamin 1992; DeStefano 2002; Makela 2002; Robertson 1988). The conclusions of Benjamin (Benjamin 1992) were undermined by textual errors and the open clinical assessment of cases and those of Robertson (Robertson 1988) by vaccine assignment by parental choice (with no reported controls).

We assessed nine studies as having a high likelihood of bias (Table 03) (Beck 1989; Dunlop 1989; Fombonne 2001; Makino 1990; Miller 1989; Robertson 1988; Stokes 1971; Swartz 1974; Weibel 1980). The most common reason was the selection of the cohorts, with missing descriptions of the reference population. The studies' conclusions that MMR is 'safe', 'equally safe', 'well-tolerated', has 'low-reactogenicity' need to be interpreted with caution given the potential for confounding. The validity of the conclusions was affected by selective reporting in the comparative analysis (with just over half the responses from participants in some cases).

There was a lack of adequate description of exposure (vaccine content and schedules) in all cohort studies. Another recurring problem was the failure of any study to provide descriptions of all outcomes monitored. A lack of clarity in reporting and systematic bias made comparability across studies and quantitative synthesis of data impossible.

Case-control studies

Two case-control studies reported that exposure to MMR was not associated with an increased risk of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis (Davis 2001) or with aseptic meningitis (MMR containing Jeryl-Lynn mumps strain) (Black 1997). Both studies had low chance of bias but lacked details of exposure (type of vaccines used) (Table 04) and a discussion of the reference population.

The study by Smeeth (Smeeth 2004) assessed the association between exposure to MMR and the onset of autism and other PDD. The study was based on data from the UK's General Practice Research Database (GPRD) which was set up on the first of June 1987. The authors concluded that their study added to the evidence that MMR vaccination was not associated with an increased risk of PDD. The odds ratio (OR) for the association between MMR vaccination and PDD was 0.78 (95% CI 0.62 to 0.97) for the non-practice matched control group and 0.86 (95% CI 0.68 to 1.09) for the practice matched control group. The findings were similar when analysis was restricted to: children with a diagnosis of autism only, to MMR vaccination before the third birthday, or to the period prior to media coverage of the hypothesis linking MMR vaccination with autism.

The study appeared carefully conducted and well reported, however, GPRD-based MMR studies had no unexposed (to MMR) representative controls. In this study the approximately 4% to 13% seemed to be unexposed controls regarded by the authors as representative. Such a small number may indicate some bias in the selection of controls.

This problem appeared to provide the rationale for the design of DeStefano 2004, a study assessing the association between MMR vaccine and the onset of autism. The authors compared the distribution of ages at first MMR vaccination in children with autism (cases) and controls, divided into three age strata: up to 18, 24 and 36 months. The authors concluded that there was no significant difference between cases and controls in the age at first vaccination up to 18 months (adjusted OR 0.94, 95% CI 0.65 to 1.38); and 24 months (adjusted OR 1.01, 95% CI 0.61 to 1.67); but more cases received MMR before 36 months (adjusted OR 1.23 95% CI 0.64 to 2.36; unadjusted OR 1.49, 95% CI 1.04 to 2.14) possibly reflecting the immunisation needs of children in a surveillance programme. This was a well-reported and designed study. The conclusion, however, implied bias in the enrollment of cases which may not be representative of the rest of the autistic population of the city of Atlanta, USA where the study was set.

Black 2003 was a GPRD-based case-control study designed to assess the relationship between MMR vaccine and idiopathic thrombocytopaenic purpura (ITP). The authors concluded that the study confirmed the increased risk of ITP within six weeks after MMR vaccination. Lack of clarity over the vaccine exposure status of controls makes the results of this study difficult to interpret.

Time series

There were three studies with a before-and-after design (da Cunha 2002; Dourado 2000; Freeman 1993). The study by Dourado assessed a possible association between mumps Urabe-containing MMR and aseptic meningitis; it reported a positive association (Dourado 2000). In the study by Freeman, the incidence of rash, lymphadenopathy and nasal discharge was found to be higher after exposure to MMR in two age groups (13 and 15 months olds) (Freeman 1993).

The study by Da Cuhna et al (da Cunha 2002) assessed the risk of acute aseptic meningitis and mumps in two regions of Brazil. In this study, over 800,000 children aged 1 to 11 years were observed before and after vaccination with Leningrad-Zagreb mumps strain-containing MMR (LZ-MMR). The authors concluded that there was a marked increase in the number of notified cases of aseptic meningitis (AM) in the two states studied. This was three to four weeks after the mass immunisation campaign using LZ mumps strain MMR vaccine.

In the study by Dourado, limited error was introduced by using an estimation of the denominator from a prior census and the number of doses administered (as opposed to supplied) in the mass vaccination programme (Dourado 2000). In the study by Freeman, the number of completed weekly diaries varied over the eight-week study period, with no indication of whether the losses occurred pre or postvaccination (Freeman 1993). In addition, there was an overall attrition rate of 33%. The risk estimates varied depending on the diagnostic criteria used and the geographical area. There was also an increase in the incidence of notified mumps after the campaign in the area where data were available.

In the study by Da Cuhna (da Cunha 2002), despite uncertainties about the correlation between denominators before and after immunisation, both sets of comparisons appeared to show a notable rise in aseptic meningitis and mumps following immunisation with LZ-MMR. Some confounding may have taken place especially around the date of immunisation and the exact before immunisation denominators (coverage was unequal in the two states). These were, however, unlikely to have affected conclusions given the sheer size of the study.

Ecological study

The single ecological study that was included assessed the evidence of association between MMR, or any of its component vaccines, and the onset of thrombocytopenic purpura (TP) (Jonville-Bera 1996). The study concluded that the evidence favoured an association but in all cases TP appeared to be a benign, self-limiting condition not distinguishable from its idiopathic counterpart or from TP occurring after natural infection with measles, mumps or rubella. The study discussed the weakness of relying on the passive reporting system for the identification of cases and acknowledged a possible under-reporting of cases of TP.

Case-only designs

The single included self-controlled case series study assessed clustering of cases of autism by postexposure periods in a cohort of 498 (with 293 confirmed cases) children (Taylor 1999). The authors reported a significant increase in onset of parental concern at six months postvaccination. The authors plausibly argued that this may have been due to multiple testing, caused by an unclear causal hypothesis, and concluded that the evidence did not support an association with autism. The study demonstrates the difficulties of drawing inferences in the absence of a non-exposed population or a clearly defined causal hypothesis.

The single case-crossover study (Park 2004) suggested that MMR and aseptic meningitis are associated (OR 3.02). There was a moderate likelihood of selection bias because of missing cases and their records (up to 27%) but the study and its methods were well reported.

DISCUSSION

We found only limited evidence of the safety of MMR compared to its single component vaccines from studies that had a low risk of bias. The few studies least likely to be affected by systematic error pointed to a likely association with fewer upper respiratory tract infections, increased febrile convulsions in the first two weeks postvaccination and no increased incidence of aseptic meningitis (for Jeryl-Lynn strain-containing mumps vaccine). Low risk of bias evidence did not support a causal association with Crohn's disease, ulcerative colitis or autism. We found problematic internal validity in some included studies and the biases present in the studies (selection, performance, attrition, detection and reporting) influenced our confidence in their findings. The most common type of bias was selection bias.

Reasons presented by the papers to justify missing data were analysed. Despite accepting as 'adequate' explanations such as 'nonresponse to questionnaire' and 'medical records unavailable', not all reports offered adequate explanations for missing data.

External validity of included studies was also low. Descriptions of the study populations, response rates (particularly in non-randomised studies), vaccine content and exposure (all important indicators of generalisability) were poorly and inconsistently reported. In addition, inadequate and inconsistent descriptions of reported outcomes (a well-known problem (Kohl 2001)), limited observation periods (maximum 42 days) and selective reporting of results contributed to our decision not to attempt pooling data by study design.

There are some weaknesses in our review. Age limit of participants, although substantially justified by public health concerns about the effects of vaccination on the developing child, did lead us to exclude some studies only on this basis. Additionally, the methodological quality tools used to assess the ecological, timeseries and case-only designs have not to our knowledge been empirically tested. We believe this to have had minimal impact on our findings given the size and nature of the biases present in the design and reporting of the included studies.

The range of differing study designs used by authors are partly a reflection on the lack of control children not exposed to MMR, due to the population nature of vaccination programmes. As MMR vaccine is universally recommended, recent studies are constrained by the lack of a non-exposed control group. This is a methodologically difficulty which is likely to be encountered in all comparative studies of established childhood vaccines. We were unable to include a majority of the retrieved studies because a comparable, clearly-defined control group or risk period was not available. The exclusion may be a limitation of our review or may reflect a more fundamental methodological dilemma: how to carry out meaningful studies in the absence of a representative population not exposed to a vaccine that is universally used in public health programmes. Whichever view is chosen, we believe that meaningful inferences from individual studies lacking a non-exposed control group are difficult to make.

We were disappointed by our inability to identify effectiveness studies with population or clinical outcomes. Given the existence of documented elimination of targeted diseases in large population by means of mass immunisation campaigns however, we have no reason to doubt the effectiveness of MMR.

The safety record of MMR is possibly best attested by its almost universal use; its evaluation cannot be divorced from its effectiveness and the importance of the target diseases. As such, MMR remains an important preventive global intervention.

More attention needs to be paid to the design and reporting of safety outcomes in vaccine studies, both pre and postmarketing.

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

Existing evidence on the safety and effectiveness of MMR vaccine supports current policies of mass immunisation aimed at global measles eradication in order to reduce morbidity and mortality associated with mumps and rubella.

Implications for research

The design and reporting of safety outcomes in MMR vaccine studies, both pre and postmarketing, need to be improved and standardised definitions of adverse events should be adopted.

POTENTIAL CONFLICT OF

Dr Jefferson in 1999 acted as an ad hoc consultant for a legal team advising MMR manufacturers.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Drs Harald Hejbel, Carlo DiPietrantonj, Paddy Farrington, Ms Sally Hopewell, Melanie Rudin, Anne Lusher, Letizia Sampaolo and Valeria Wenzel. The authors wish to thank the following for commenting on this review draft: Bruce Arroll, Lize van der Merwe, Janet Wale and Leonard Leibovici.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

External sources of support

• European Union Programme for Improved Vaccine Safety Surveillance. EU Contract Number 1999/C64/14 EURO-PEAN UNION

Internal sources of support

• Istituto Superiore di Sanita ITALY

REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

Beck 1989 {published data only}

Beck M, Welsz-Malecek R, Mesko-Prejac M, Radman V, Juzbasic M, Rajninger-Miholic M, et al. Mumps vaccine L-Zagreb, prepared in chick fibroblasts. I. Production and field trials. *Journal of Biological Standards* 1989;**17**(1):85–90.

Benjamin 1992 {published data only}

Benjamin CM, Chew GC, Silman AJ. Joint and limb symptoms in children after immunisation with measles, mumps, and rubella

vaccine. BMJ 1992;304(6834):1075-8.

Black 1997 {published data only}

Black S, Shinefield H, Ray P, Lewis E, Chen R, Glasser J, et al. Risk of hospitalization because of aseptic meningitis after measles-mumpsrubella vaccination in one- to two-year-old children: an analysis of the Vaccine Safety Datalink (VSD) Project. *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 1997;**16**(5):500–3.

Black 2003 {published data only}

Black C, Kaye JA, Jick H. MMR vaccine and idiopathic thrombocy-

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review) Copyright © 2006 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd topaenic purpura. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 2003;55 (1):107–11.

Bloom 1975 {published data only}

Bloom JL, Schiff GM, Graubarth H, Lipp RW Jr, Jackson JE, Osborn RL, et al. Evaluation of a trivalent measles, mumps, rubella vaccine in children. *Journaal of Pediatrics* 1975;**87**(1):85–7.

Ceyhan 2001 {published data only}

Ceyhan M, Kanra G, Erdem G, Kanra B. Immunogenicity and efficacy of one dose measles-mumps-rubella (MMR) vaccine at twelve months of age as compared to monovalent measles vaccination at nine months followed by MMR revaccination at fifteen months of age. *Vaccine* 2001;**19**(31):4473–8.

da Cunha 2002 {published data only}

da Cunha SS, Rodrigues LC, Barreto ML, Dourado I. Outbreak of aseptic meningitis and mumps after mass vaccination with MMR vaccine using the Leningrad-Zagreb mumps strain. *Vaccine* 2002;**20** (7-8):1106–12.

Davis 2001 {published data only}

Davis RL, Kramarz P, Bohlke K, Benson P, Thompson RS, Mullooly J, et al. Measles-mumps-rubella and other measles-containing vaccines do not increase the risk for inflammatory bowel disease: a case-control study from the Vaccine Safety Datalink project. *Archives of Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine* 2001;**155**(3):354–9.

DeStefano 2002 {published data only}

DeStefano F, Gu D, Kramarz P, Truman BI, Iademarco MF, Mullooly JP, Jackson LA, et al. Childhood vaccinations and risk of asthma. *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 2002;**21**(6):498–504.

DeStefano 2004 {published data only}

DeStefano F, Bhasin TK, Thompson WW, Yeargin-Allsopp M, Boyle C. Age at first measles-mumps-rubella vaccination in children with autism and school-matched control subjects: a population-based study in metropolitan Atlanta. *Pediatrics* 2004;**113**(2):259–66.

Dourado 2000 {published data only}

Dourado I, Cunha S, Teixeira MG, Farrington CP, Melo A, Lucena R, et al. Outbreak of aseptic meningitis associated with mass vaccination with a Urabe-containing measles-mumps-rubella vaccine: implications for immunization programs. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2000;**151**(5):524–30.

Dunlop 1989 {published data only}

Dunlop JM, RaiChoudhury K, Roberts JS, Bryett KA. An evaluation of measles, mumps and rubella vaccine in a population of Yorkshire infants. *Public Health* 1989;**103**(5):331–5.

Edees 1991 {published data only}

Edees S, Pullan CR, Hull D. A randomised single blind trial of a combined mumps measles rubella vaccine to evaluate serological response and reactions in the UK population. *Public Health* 1991;**105** (2):91–7.

Fombonne 2001 {published data only}

Fombonne E, Chakrabarti S. No evidence for a new variant of measles-mumps-rubella-induced autism. *Pediatrics* 2001;**108**(4): E58.

Freeman 1993 {published data only}

Freeman TR, Stewart MA, Turner L. Illness after measles-mumpsrubella vaccination. *CMAJ* 1993;**149**(11):1669–74.

Jonville-Bera 1996 {published data only}

Jonville-Bera AP, Autret E, Galy-Eyraud C, Hessel L. Thrombocytopenic purpura after measles, mumps and rubella vaccination: a retrospective survey by the French regional pharmacovigilance centres and pasteur-merieux serums et vaccins. *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 1996;**15**(1):44–8.

Lerman 1981 {published data only}

Lerman SJ, Bollinger M, Brunken JM. Clinical and serologic evaluation of measles, mumps, and rubella (HPV-77:DE-5 and RA 27/3) virus vaccines, singly and in combination. *Pediatrics* 1981;**68**(1):18– 22.

Madsen 2002 {published data only}

Madsen KM, Hviid A, Vestergaard M, Schendel D, Wohlfahrt J, Thorsen P, et al. A population-based study of measles, mumps, and rubella vaccination and autism. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2002;**347**(19):1477–82.

Makela 2002 {published data only}

Makela A, Nuorti JP, Peltola H. Neurologic disorders after measlesmumps-rubella vaccination. *Pediatrics* 2002;**110**(5):957–63.

Makino 1990 {published data only}

Makino S, Sasaki K, Nakayama T, Oka S, Urano T, Kimura M, et al. A new combined trivalent live measles (AIK-C strain), mumps (Hoshino strain), and rubella (Takahashi strain) vaccine. Findings in clinical and laboratory studies. *American Journal of Diseases in Children* 1990;**144**(8):905–10.

Miller 1989 {published data only}

Miller C, Miller E, Rowe K, Bowie C, Judd M, Walker D. Surveillance of symptoms following MMR vaccine in children. *Practitioner* 1989; **233**(1461):69–73.

Park 2004 {published data only}

Park T, Ki M, Yi SG. Statistical analysis of MMR vaccine adverse events on aseptic meningitis using the case cross-over design. *Stat Med* 2004;**23**(12):1871–83.

Peltola 1986 {published data only}

Peltola H, Heinonen OP. Frequency of true adverse reactions to measles-mumps-rubella vaccine. A double-blind placebo-controlled trial in twins. *Lancet* 1986;1(8487):939–42.

Robertson 1988 {published data only}

Robertson CM, Bennett VJ, Jefferson N, Mayon-White RT. Serological evaluation of a measles, mumps, and rubella vaccine. *Archives* of Diseases of Children 1988;63(6):612–6.

Schwarz 1975 {published data only}

Schwarz AJ, Jackson JE, Ehrenkranz NJ, Ventura A, Schiff GM, Walters VW. Clinical evaluation of a new measles-mumps-rubella trivalent vaccine. *American Journal of Diseases of Children* 1975;**129** (12):1408–12.

Smeeth 2004 {published data only}

Smeeth L, Cook C, Fombonne E, Heavey L, Rodrigues LC, Smith PG, et al. MMR vaccination and pervasive developmental disorders: a case-control study. *Lancet* 2004;**364**(9438):963–9.

Stokes 1971 {published data only}

Stokes JJ, Weibel RE, Villarejos VM, Arguedas JA, Buynak EB, Hilleman MR. Trivalent combined measles-mumps-rubella vaccine. Findings in clinical-laboratory studies. *JAMA* 1971;**218**(1):57–61.

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review)

Swartz 1974 {published data only}

Swartz TA, Klingberg W, Klingberg MA. Combined trivalent and bivalent measles, mumps and rubella virus vaccination. A controlled trial. *Infection* 1974;**2**(3):115–7.

Taylor 1999 {published data only}

Taylor B, Miller E, Farrington CP, Petropoulos MC, Favot-Mayaud I, Li J, et al. Autism and measles, mumps, and rubella vaccine: no epidemiological evidence for a causal association. *Lancet* 1999;**353** (9169):2026–9.

Vestergaard 2004 {published data only}

Vestergaard M, Hviid A, Madsen KM, Wohlfahrt J, Thorsen P, Schendel D, et al. MMR vaccination and febrile seizures: evaluation of susceptible subgroups and long-term prognosis. *JAMA* 2004;**292** (3):351–7.

Weibel 1980 {published data only}

Weibel RE, Carlson AJ Jr, Villarejos VM, Buynak EB, McLean AA, Hilleman MR. Clinical and laboratory studies of combined live measles, mumps, and rubella vaccines using the RA 27/3 rubella virus. *Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine* 1980;**165**(2):323–6.

References to studies excluded from this review

Akobeng 1999

Akobeng AK, Thomas AG. Inflammatory bowel disease, autism, and the measles, mumps, and rubella vaccine. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition* 1999;**28**(3):351–2.

Andre 1984

Andre FE. Summary of clinical studies with the Oka live varicella vaccine produced by Smith Kline-RIT. *Biken J* 1984;27(2-3):89–98.

Anonymous 1982

Anonymous. Adverse effects of Virivac. *Lakartidningen* 1982;7**9**(42): 3822.

Anonymous 1997

Anonymous. Vaccination : News on precautions, contraindications, and adverse reactions. *Consultant* 1997;**37**(3):756–60.

Anonymous 1999

Anonymous. Incidence of measles vaccine-associated adverse events is low. *Drugs & Therapy Perspectives* 1999;**14**(11):13–6.

Aozasa 1982

Aozasa K, Nara H, Kotoh K, Watanabe Y, Sakai S, Honda M. Malignant histiocytosis with slow clinical course. *Pathology, Research and Practice* 1982;**174**(1-2):147–58.

Autret 1996

Autret E, Jonville-Bera AP, Galy-Eyraud C, Hessel L. Thrombocytopenic purpura after isolated or combined vaccination against measles, mumps and rubella [Purpura thrombopenique apres vaccination isolee ou associee contre la rougeole, la rubeole et les oreillons]. *Therapie* 1996;**51**(6):677–80.

Balraj 1995

Balraj V ME. Complications of mumps vaccines. *Reviews in Medical Virology* 1995;**5**(4):219–27.

Beck 1991

Beck SA, Williams LW, Shirrell MA, Burks AW. Egg hypersensitivity and measles-mumps-rubella vaccine administration. *Pediatrics* 1991; **88**(5):913–7.

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review)

Copyright © 2006 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

Beeler 1996

Beeler J, Varricchio F, Wise R. Thrombocytopenia after immunization with measles vaccines: review of the vaccine adverse events reporting system (1990 to 1994). *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 1996;**15**(1):88–90.

Benjamin 1991

Benjamin CM, Silman AJ. Adverse reactions and mumps, measles and rubella vaccine. *Journal of Public Health Medicine* 1991;**13**(1): 32–4.

Berger 1988a

Berger R, Just M, Gluck R. Interference between strains in live virus vaccines. I: Combined vaccination with measles, mumps and rubella vaccine. *Journal of Biological Standardization* 1988;**16**(4):269–73.

Berger 1988b

Berger R, Just M. Interference between strains in live virus vaccines. II: Combined vaccination with varicella and measles-mumps-rubella vaccine. *Journal of Biological Standardization* 1988;**16**(4):275–9.

Berlin 1983

Berlin BS. Convulsions after measles immunisation. *Lancet* 1983;**1** (8338):1380.

Bhargava 1995

Bhargava I, Chhaparwal BC, Phadke MA, Irani SF, Chhaparwal D, Dhorje S, et al. Immunogenicity and reactogenicity of indigenously produced MMR vaccine. *Indian PediatrIcs* 1995;**32**(9):983–8.

Borgono 1973

Borgono JM, Greiber R, Solari G, Concha F, Carrillo B, Hilleman MR. A field trial of combined measles-mumps-rubella vaccine. Satisfactory immunization with 188 children in Chile. *Clinical Pediatrics* 1973;**12**(3):170–2.

Bruno 1997

Bruno G, Grandolfo M, Lucenti P, Novello F, Ridolfi B, Businco L. Measles vaccine in egg allergic children: poor immunogenicity of the Edmoston-Zagreb strain. *Pediatric Allergy and Immunology* 1997;**8** (1):17–20.

Buntain 1976

Buntain WL, Missall SR. Letter: Local subcutaneous atrophy following measles, mumps, and rubella vaccination. *American Journal of Diseases of Children* 1976;**130**(3):335.

Buynak 1969

Buynak EB, Weibel RE, Whitman JE Jr, Stokes J Jr, Hilleman MR. Combined live measles, mumps, and rubella virus vaccines. *JAMA* 1969;**207**(12):2259–62.

Chang 1982

Chang Hee Hong. Immunisation problems in measles, rubella and mumps. *Journal of the Korean Medical Association* 1982;25(9):801-6.

Chen 1991

Chen RT, Moses JM, Markowitz LE, Orenstein WA. Adverse events following measles-mumps-rubella and measles vaccinations in college students. *Vaccine* 1991;**9**(5):297–9.

Chen 2000

Chen RT, Mootrey G, DeStefano F. Safety of routine childhood vaccinations. An epidemiological review. *Paediatric Drugs* 2000;**2**(4): 273–90.

Chiodo 1992

Chiodo F. Effectiveness and security of the trivalent vaccine against measles, parotitis and rubella (MPR). *L'igiene Moderna* 1992;**97** (Suppl.1):77–86.

Cinquetti 1994

Cinquetti S, Tonetto L, Portello A, Chermaz E, Sernagiotto F, De Noni R, et al. Aderse reactions following vaccination with two different types of measles mumps-rubella vaccine [Reazioni indesiderate a due diverse preparazioni di vaccine 'triplo' antimorbillo-parotiterosolia]. *Igiene Moderna* 1994;**101**(6):793–800.

Contardi 1989

Contardi I. Clinical and immunologic valuation of a new triple measles, mumps and rubella vaccine. *Giornale di Malattie Infettive e Parassitarie* 1989;**41**(11):1106–7.

Contardi 1992

Contardi I, Lusardi C, Cattaneo GG. A comparative study of 3 different types of trivalent measles-mumps-rubella vaccine. *Pediatria Medica e Chirurgica* 1992;**14**(4):421–4.

Coplan 2000

Coplan P, Chiacchierini L, Nikas A, Shea J, Baumritter A, Beutner K, et al. Development and evaluation of a standardized questionnaire for identifying adverse events in vaccine clinical trials. *Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety* 2000;**9**(6):457–71.

D'Argenio 1998

D'Argenio P, Citarella A, Manfredi Selvaggi MT, Arigliani R, Casani A, et al. Field evaluation of the clinical effectiveness of vaccines against pertussis, measles, rubella and mumps. The Benevento and Compobasso Pediatricians Network for the Control of Vaccine-Preventable Diseases. *Vaccine* 1998;**16**(8):818–22.

D'Souza 2000

D'Souza RM, Campbell-Lloyd S, Isaacs D, Gold M, Burgess M, Turnbull F, et al. Adverse events following immunisation associated with the 1998 Australian Measles Control Campaign. *Communicable Diseases Intelligence* 2000;**24**(2):27–33.

Dales 2001

Dales L, Hammer SJ, Smith NJ. Time trends in autism and in MMR immunization coverage in California. *JAMA* 2001;**285**(9):1183–5.

Dankova 1995

Dankova E, Domorazkova E, Skovrankova J, Vodickova M, Honzonova S, Stehlikova J, et al. Immune reactivity and risk of an undesiderable response after vaccination. *Ceskoslovenská Pediatrie* 1995; **50**(9):515–9.

Dashefsky 1990

Dashefsky B, Wald E, Guerra N, Byers C. Safety, tolerability, and immunogenicity of concurrent administration of Haemophilus influenzae type b conjugate vaccine (meningococcal protein conjugate) with either measles-mumps-rubella vaccine or diphtheria-tetanuspertussis and oral poliovirus vaccines in 14- to 23-month-old infants. *Pediatrics* 1990;**85**(4 Pt 2):682–9.

Davis 1997

Davis RL, Marcuse E, Black S, Shinefield H, Givens B, Schwalbe J, et al. MMR2 immunization at 4 to 5 years and 10 to 12 years of age: a comparison of adverse clinical events after immunization in the Vaccine Safety Datalink project. The Vaccine Safety Datalink Team. *Pediatrics* 1997;**100**(5):767–71.

Deforest 1986

Deforest A, Long SS, Lischner HW. Safety and efficacy of simultaneous administration of measles-mumps-rubella (MMR) with booster doses of diphteria-tetanus-pertussis (TP) and trivalent oral poliovirus (OPV) vaccines. *Developments in Biological Standardization* 1986;**65**: 111.

Deforest 1988

Deforest A, Long SS, Lischner HW, Girone JA, Clark JL, Srinivasan R, et al. Simultaneous administration of measles-mumps-rubella vaccine with booster doses of diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis and poliovirus vaccines. *Pediatrics* 1988;**81**(2):237–46.

DeStefano 2000

DeStefano F, Chen RT. Autism and measles, mumps, and rubella vaccine: No epidemiological evidence for a causal association. *Journal of Pediatrics* 2000;**136**(1):125–6.

Dobrosavljevic 1999

Dobrosavljevic D, Milinkovic MV, Nikolic MM. Toxic epidermal necrolysis following morbilli-parotitis-rubella vaccination. *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology* 1999;**13**(1): 59–61.

Dos Santos 2002

Dos Santos BA, Ranieri TS, Bercini M, Schermann MT, Famer S, Mohrdieck R, et al. An evaluation of the adverse reaction potential of three measles-mumps-rubella combination vaccines. *Revista Panamericana de Salud Pública* 2002;**12**(4):240–6.

Ehrenkranz 1975

Ehrenkranz NJ, Ventura AK, Medler EM, Jackson JE, Kenny MT. Clinical evaluation of a new measles-mumps-rubella combined live virus vaccine in the Dominican Republic. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 1975;**52**(1):81–5.

Elphinstone 2000

Elphinstone P. The MMR question. Lancet 2000;356(9224):161.

Englund 1989

Englund JA, Suarez CS, Kelly J, Tate DY, Balfour HH Jr. Placebocontrolled trial of varicella vaccine given with or after measlesmumps-rubella vaccine. *Journal of Pediatrics* 1989;**114**(1):37–44.

Farrington 1996

Farrington CP, Nash J, Miller E. Case series analysis of adverse reactions to vaccines: a comparative evaluation. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 1996;**143**(11):1165–73.

Farrington 2001

Farrington CP, Miller E, Taylor B. MMR and autism: further evidence against a causal association. *Vaccine* 2001;**19**(27):3632–5.

Fletcher 2001

Fletcher AP. MMR safety studies. *Adverse Drug Reactions and Toxicological Reviews* 2001;**20**(1):57–60.

Garrido L 1992

Garrido Lestache A, Martin Hernandez D. Triple virus vaccination: Study of its efficacy and safety. *Pediatrika* 1992;**12**:42–7.

Geier 2004

Geier DA, Geier MR. A comparative evaluation of the effects of MMR immunization and mercury doses from thimerosal-containing childhood vaccines on the population prevalence of autism. *Medical Science Monitor* 2004;**10**(3):PI33–9.

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review)

Copyright $\textcircled{\sc 0}$ 2006 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

Griffin 1991

Griffin MR, Ray WA, Mortimer EA, Fenichel GM, Schaffner W. Risk of seizures after measles-mumps-rubella immunization. *Pediatrics* 1991;**88**(5):881–5.

Grilli 1992

Grilli G, Cimini D, Vacca F. Vaccination against measles, mumps and rubella: Incidence of side effects using different vaccine strains. *Giornale di Malattie Infettive e Parassitarie* 1992;**44**(1):38–42.

Huang 1990

Huang LM, Lee CY, Hsu CY, Huang SS, Kao CL, Wu FF. Effect of monovalent measles and trivalent measles-mumps-rubella vaccines at various ages and concurrent administration with hepatitis B vaccine. *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 1990;**9**(7):461–5.

Ipp 2003

Ipp M, Cohen E, Goldbach M, Macarthur C. Pain response to measles-mumps-rubella (MMR) vaccination at 12 months of age: A randomised clinical trial. *Journal of Paediatrics & Child Health* 2003; **39**(6):A3.

Jones 1991

Jones AG, White JM, Begg NT. The impact of MMR vaccine on mumps infection in England and Wales. *CDR (London, England: review)* 1991;1(9):R93–6.

Just 1985

Just M, Berger R, Gluck R, Wegmann A. Field trial with a new human diploid cell vaccine (HDCV) against measles, mumps and rubella [Feldversuch mit einer neuartigen Humandiploidzellvakzine (HDCV) gegen Masern, Mumps und Roteln]. *Schweizerische Medizinische Wochenschrift* 1985;**115**(48):1727–30.

Just 1986

Just M, Berger R, Just V. Evaluation of a combined measles-mumpsrubella-chickenpox vaccine. *Developments in Biological Standardization* 1986;**65**:85–8.

Just 1987a

Just M, Berger R. Immunogenicity of Vaccines. A comparative Study of a mumps-measles-rubella vaccine given with or without oral polio vaccine [Immunantwort auf Impstoffe. Vergleichende Studie mit Mumps-, Masern-, und Roeteln-Impfstoff allein oder zusammen mit Polio-Impfstoff appliziert]. *Muenchner Medizinische Wochenschrift* 1987;**129**(11):188–90.

Just 1987b

Just M BR. Trivalent vaccines. A comparative study of the immunogenicity of two trivalent mumps-measles-rubella vaccines given with or without diphtheria-tetanus vaccine [Trivalente Impfstoffe. Vergleichende Studie zweier Mumps-Masern-Roeteln-Vakzinen in Kombination mit Diphtherie-Tetanus-Impfstoff]. *Münchener Medizinische Wochenschrift* 1987;**129**(23):446–7.

Kaaber 1990

Kaaber K, Samuelsson IS, Larsen SO. Reactions after MMR vaccination [Reaktioner efter MFR-vaccination]. *Ugeskrift for Laeger* 1990; **152**(23):1672–6.

Karim 2002

Karim Y, Masood A. Haemolytic uraemic syndrome following mumps, measles, and rubella vaccination. *Nephrology, Dialysis, Transplantation* 2002;**17**(5):941–2.

Kaye 2001

Kaye JA, del Mar C, Melero-Montes M, Jick H. Mumps, measles, and rubella vaccine and the incidence of autism recorded by general practitioners: a time trend analysis. *BMJ* 2001;**322**(7284):460–3.

Kazarian 1978

Kazarian EL, Gager WE. Optic neuritis complicating measles, mumps, and rubella vaccination. *American Journal of Ophthalmology* 1978;**86**(4):544–7.

Kiepiela 1991

Kiepiela P, Coovadia HM, Loening WE, Coward P, Botha G, Hugo J, et al. Lack of efficacy of the standard potency Edmonston-Zagreb live, attenuated measles vaccine in African infants. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 1991;**69**(2):221–7.

Kurtzke 1997

Kurtzke JF, Hyllested K, Arbuckle JD, Bronnum-Hansen H, Wallin MT, Heltberg A, et al. Multiple sclerosis in the Faroe Islands. 7. Results of a case control questionnaire with multiple controls. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica* 1997;**96**(3):149–57.

Lee 1998

Lee JW, Melgaard B, Clements CJ, Kane M, Mulholland EK, Olive JM. Autism, inflammatory bowel disease, and MMR vaccine. *Lancet* 1998;**351**(9106):905; author reply 908-9.

Lucena 2002

Lucena R, Gomes I, Nunes L, Cunha S, Dourado I, Teixeira Mda G, et al. Clinical and laboratory features of aseptic meningitis associated with measles-mumps-rubella vaccine [Caracteristicas clinicas e laboratoriais da meningite asseptica associada a vacina triplice viral]. *Revista Panamericana de Salud Pública* 2002;**12**(4):258–61.

Maekawa 1991

Maekawa K, Nozaki H, Fukushima K, Sugishita T, Kuriya N. Clinical analysis of measles, mumps and rubella vaccine meningitis - Comparative study of mumps, mumps meningitis and MMR meningitis. *Jikeikai Medical Journal* 1991;**38**(4):361–8.

Maguire 1991

Maguire HC, Begg NT, Handford SG. Meningoencephalitis associated with MMR vaccine. *CDR (London, England: review)* 1991;1(6): R60–1.

Marolla 1998

Marolla F, Baviera G, Cacciapuoti, Calia V, Cannavavo R, Clemente A, et al. A field study on vaccine efficacy against mumps of three MMR vaccines [Efficacia verso la parotite di tre diversi vaccini a tripla componente : studio sul campo]. *Rivista Italiana Di Pediatria* 1998; **24**(3):466–72.

Matter 1995

Matter L, Bally F, Germann D, Schopfer K. The incidence of rubella virus infections in Switzerland after the introduction of the MMR mass vaccination programme. *European Journal of Epidemiology* 1995;**11**(3):305–10.

Matter 1997

Matter L, Germann D, Bally F, Schopfer K. Age-stratified seroprevalence of measles, mumps and rubella (MMR) virus infections in Switzerland after the introduction of MMR mass vaccination. *European Journal of Epidemiology* 1997;**13**(1):61–6.

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review)

Miller 1983

Miller JR, Orgel HA, Meltzer EO. The safety of egg-containing vaccines for egg-allergic patients. *Journal of Clinical Immunology* 1983; **71**(6):568–73.

Miller 1993

Miller E, Goldacre M, Pugh S, Colville A, Farrington P, Flower A, et al. Risk of aseptic meningitis after measles, mumps, and rubella vaccine in UK children. *Lancet* 1993;**341**(8851):979–82.

Miller 2001

Miller E, Waight P, Farrington CP, Andrews N, Stowe J, Taylor B. Idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura and MMR vaccine. *Archives of Diseases in Childhood* 2001;**84**(3):227–9.

Miller 2002

Miller E. MMR vaccine: review of benefits and risks. *Journal of Infection* 2002;44(1):1–6.

Min 1991

Min C-H, Lee J-H, Cho M-K. A study of immunogenicity of measles, mumps and rubella vaccine prepared from human diploid cell. *Journal of the Korean Society for Microbiology* 1991;**26**(5):487–91.

Minekawa 1974

Minekawa Y, Ueda S, Yamanishi K, Ogino T, Takahashi M. Studies on live rubella vaccine. V. Quantitative aspects of interference between rubella, measles and mumps viruses in their trivalent vaccine. *Biken Journal* 1974;**17**(4):161–7.

Mommers 2004

Mommers M, Weishoff-Houben M, Swaen GM, Creemers H, Freund H, Dott W, et al. Infant immunization and the occurrence of atopic disease in Dutch and German children: A nested case-control study. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2004;**38**(4):329–34.

Nalin 1999

Nalin D. Comparative study of reactogenicity and immunogenicity of new and established measles, mumps and rubella vaccines in healthy children (Infection 26). *Infection* 1999;**27**(2):134–5.

Nicoll 1998

Nicoll A, Elliman D, Ross E. MMR vaccination and autism 1998 [Erratum in: BMJ 1998 Mar 14;316(7134):796]. *BMJ* 1998;**316** (7133):715–6.

Noble 2003

Noble KK, Miyasaka K. Measles, mumps, and rubella vaccination and autism. *NEJM* 2003;**348**(10):951-4; author reply 951-4.

O'Brien 1998

O'Brien SJ, Jones IG, Christie P. Autism, inflammatory bowel disease, and MMR vaccine. *Lancet* 1998;**351**(9106):906-7; author reply 908-9.

Patja 2000

Patja A, Davidkin I, Kurki T, Kallio MJ, Valle M, Peltola H. Serious adverse events after measles-mumps-rubella vaccination during a fourteen-year prospective follow-up. *Pediatic Infectious Disease Journal* 2000;**19**(12):1127–34.

Patja 2001

Patja A, Paunio M, Kinnunen E, Junttila O, Hovi T, Peltola H. Risk of Guillain-Barre syndrome after measles-mumps-rubella vaccination. *Journal of Paediatrics* 2001;**138**(2):250–4.

Pekmezovic 2004

Pekmezovic T, Jarebinski M, Drulovic J. Childhood Infections as Risk Factors for Multiple Sclerosis: Belgrade Case-Control Study. *Neuroepidemiology* 2004;**23**(6):285–8.

Peltola 1998

Peltola H, Patja A, Leinikki P, Valle M, Davidkin I, Paunio M. No evidence for measles, mumps, and rubella vaccine-associated inflammatory bowel disease or autism in a 14-year prospective study. *Lancet* 1998;**351**(9112):1327–8.

Puvvada 1993

Puvvada L, Silverman B, Bassett C, Chiaramonte LT. Systemic reactions to measles-mumps-rubella vaccine skin testing. *Pediatrics* 1993; **91**(4):835–6.

Ramos-Alvarez 1976

Ramos-Alvarez M, Bessudo L, Kenny MT, Jackson JE, Schwarz AJ. Simultaneous administration at different dosages of attenuated live virus vaccines against measles, mumps and rubella [Administracion simultanea en diferentes dosificaciones de las vacunas de virus vivos atenuados contra el sarampion, parotiditis y rubeola]. *Boletín Médico del Hospital Infantil de México* 1976;**33**(4):875–86.

Sabra 1998

Sabra A, Bellanti JA, Colon AR. Ileal-lymphoid-nodular hyperplasia, non-specific colitis, and pervasive developmental disorder in children. *Lancet* 1998;**352**(9123):234–5.

Scarpa 1990

Scarpa B, Masia G, Contu P, Origa P, Sanna CM, Pintor C, et al. Trivalent vaccine against measles, rubella and parotitis : Clinic and serological evaluation [Vaccino trivalente contro morbillo, rosolia e parotite : valutazione clinica e sierologica]. *Giornale di Malattie Infettive e Parassitarie* 1990;**42**(6):344–7.

Schettini 1989

Schettini F, Manzionna MM, De Mattia D, Amendola F, Di Bitonto G. Clinico-immunologic evaluation of a trivalent vaccine against measles, rubella and mumps [Valutazione clinico-immunologica di un vaccino trivalente contro morbillo, rosolia e parotite]. *Minerva Pediatrica* 1989;**41**(3):117–22.

Schettini 1990

Schettini F, Manzionna MM, De Mattia D, Amendola F, Di Bitonto G. The clinico-immunological evaluation of a bivalent vaccine against measles and rubella [Valutazione clinico-immunologica di un vaccino bivalente contro morbillo e rosolia]. *Minerva Pediatrica* 1990;**42**(12):531–6.

Schwarzer 1998

Schwarzer S, Reibel S, Lang AB, Struck MM, Finkel B, Gerike E, et al. Safety and characterization of the immune response engendered by two combined measles, mumps and rubella vaccines. *Vaccine* 1998; **16**(2-3):298–304.

Seagroatt 2003

Seagroatt V, Goldacre MJ. Crohn's disease, ulcerative colitis, and measles vaccine in an English population, 1979-1998. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 2003;57(11):883–7.

Shinefield 2002

Shinefield HR, Black SB, Staehle BO, Matthews H, Adelman T, Ensor K, et al. Vaccination with measles, mumps and rubella vaccine and varicella vaccine: safety, tolerability, immunogenicity, persistence

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review)

of antibody and duration of protection against varicella in healthy children. *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 2002;**21**(6):555–61.

Spitzer 2001

Spitzer WO. A sixty day war of words: is MMR linked to autism?. Adverse Drug Reactions and Toxicological Reviews 2001;**20**(1):47–55.

Stetler 1985

Stetler HC, Mullen JR, Brennan JP, Orenstein WA, Bart KJ, Hinman AR. Adverse events following immunization with DTP vaccine. *Developments in Biological Standardization* 1985;**61**:411–21.

Stokes 1967

Stokes JJ. Studies on active immunization in measles, mumps and rubella. *Johns Hopkins Medical Journal* 1967;**121**(5):314–28.

Stratton 1994

Stratton KR, Howe CJ, Johnston RB Jr. Adverse events associated with childhood vaccines other than pertussis and rubella. Summary of a report from the Institute of Medicine. *JAMA* 1994;**271**(20): 1602–5.

Sugiura 1982

Sugiura A, Ohtawara M, Hayami M, Hisiyama M, Shishido A, Kawana R, et al. Field trial of trivalent measles-rubella-mumps vaccine in Japan. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 1982;**146**(5):709.

Ueda 1995

Ueda K, Miyazaki C, Hidaka Y, Okada K, Kusuhara K, Kadoya R. Aseptic meningitis caused by measles-mumps-rubella vaccine in Japan. *Lancet* 1995;**346**(8976):701–2.

Vesikari 1979

Vesikari T, Elo O. Vaccination against measles, mumps and rubellatogether or separately? [Tuhkarokon, sikotaudin ja vihurirokon torjunta--yhdessa vai erikseen?]. *Duodecim* 1979;**95**(9):527–9.

Vesikari 1984

Vesikari T, Ala-Laurila EL, Heikkinen A, Terho A, D'Hondt E, Andre FE. Clinical trial of a new trivalent measles-mumps-rubella vaccine in young children. *American Journal of Diseases in Children* 1984;**138** (9):843–7.

Wakefield 1998

Wakefield AJ, Murch SH, Anthony A, Linnell J, Casson DM, Malik M, et al. Ileal-lymphoid-nodular hyperplasia, non-specific colitis, and pervasive developmental disorder in children. *Lancet* 1998;**351** (9103):637–41.

Wakefield 1999a

Wakefield AJ, Montgomery SM. Autism, viral infection and measlesmumps-rubella vaccination. *Israel Medical Association Journal* 1999; 1(3):183–7.

Wakefield 1999b

Wakefield AJ. MMR vaccination and autism. *Lancet* 1999;**354** (9182):949–50.

Wakefield 2000

Wakefield AJ, Montgomery SM. Measles, mumps, rubella vaccine: through a glass, darkly. *Adverse Drug Reactions and Toxicological Reviews* 2000;**19**(4):265-83; discussion 284-92.

Walters 1975

Walters VW, Miller SA, Jackson JE, Kenny MT. A field with a liver measles-mumps-rubella vaccine. *Clinical Pediatrics* 1975;14 (10):928–33.

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review)

Copyright © 2006 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

Wilson 2003

Wilson K, Mills E, Ross C, McGowan J, Jadad A. Association of autistic spectrum disorder and the measles, mumps, and rubella vaccine: a systematic review of current epidemiological evidence. *Archives of Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine* 2003;**157**(7):628–34.

Woyciechowska 1985

Woyciechowska JL, Dambrozia J, Leinikki P, Shekarchi C, Wallen W, Sever J, et al. Viral antibodies in twins with multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* 1985;**35**(8):1176–80.

Yamashiro 1998

Yamashiro Y, Walker-Smith JA, Shimizu T, Oguchi S, Ohtsuka Y. Measles vaccination and inflammatory bowel disease in Japanese children. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition* 1998;**26**(2): 238.

Additional references

CDC 1997

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Case definitions for infectious conditions under public health surveillance. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report* 1997;**46**:RR–19.

Clarke 2003

Clarke M, Oxman AD. Cochrane Reviewers' Handbook 4.1.6 Updated quarterly. *The Cochrane Library*. Oxford: Updated Software, 2003.

Derry 2001

Derry S, Kong Loke Y, Aronson JK. Incomplete evidence: the inadequacy of databases in tracing published adverse drug reactions in clinical trials. *BMC Medical Research Methodology* 2001;1(1):7.

Farrington 2004

Farrington CP. Control without separate controls: evaluation of vaccine safety using case-only methods. *Vaccine* 2004;**22**(15-16):2064– 70.

Jefferson 1999

Jefferson T, Demicheli V. Relation between experimental and nonexperimental study designs. HB vaccines: a case study. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 1999;**53**(1):51–4.

Khan 2001

Khan SK, ter Riet G, Popay J, Nixon J, Kleijnen J. Stage II Conducting the review : Phase 5 : Study quality assessment. In: KhanSK, ter RietG, GlanvilleG, SowdenAJ, KleijnenJ editor(s). Undertaking Systematic Reviews of Research on Effectiveness. CDR's guidance for carrying out or commissioning reviews. CRD Report No 4. 2nd Edition. York: NHS Centre for Reviews and Dissemination, University of York, 2001.

Kohl 2001

Kohl KS, Bonhoeffer J. Safety reporting in clinical trials. *JAMA* 2001; **285**(16):2076-7; author reply 2077-8.

Kreidl 2003

Kreidl P, Morosetti G. Must we expect an epidemic of measles in the near future in Southern Tyrol? [Mussen wir in naher Zukunft mit einer Masernepidemie in Sudtirol rechnen?]. *Wiener Klinische Wochenschrift* 2003;115(Suppl):355–60.

Last 2001

Last J. A Dictionary of Epidemiology. 4th Edition. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2001.

Peltola 2000

Peltola H, Davidkin I, Paunio M, Valle M, Leinikki P, Heinonen OP. Mumps and rubella eliminated from Finland. *JAMA* 2000;**284**(20): 2643–7.

Plotkin 1965

Plotkin SA, Cornfeld D, Ingalls TH. Studies of immunization with living rubella virus. Trials in children with a strain cultured from an aborted fetus. *American Journal of Diseases in Children* 1965;**110**(4): 381–9.

Plotkin 1973

Plotkin SA, Farquhar JD, Ogra PL. Immunologic properties of RA27-3 rubella virus vaccine. A comparison with strains presently licensed in the United States. *JAMA* 1973;**225**(6):585–90.

Plotkin 1999a

Plotkin SA. Rubella Vaccine. Vaccines. Philadelphia: WB Saunders, 1999:409–39.

Plotkin 1999b

Plotkin SA, Wharton M. Mumps Vaccine. Vaccines. Philadelphia: WB Saunders, 1999:267–92.

Redd 1999

Redd SC, Markowitz LE, Katz SL. Measles Vaccine. In: PlotkinSA, OrensteinWA editor(s). *Vaccines*. Philadelphia: WB Saunders, 1999: 222–66.

Strebel 2004

Strebel PM, Henao-Restrepo AM, Hoekstra E, Olive JM, Papania MJ, Cochi SL. Global measles elimination efforts: the significance of measles elimination in the United States. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 2004;**189**(Suppl 1):251–7.

Vandermeulen 2004

Vandermeulen C, Roelants M, Vermoere M, Roseeuw K, Goubau P, Hoppenbrouwers K. Outbreak of mumps in a vaccinated child population: a question of vaccine failure?. *Vaccine* 2004;**22**(21-22): 2713–6.

Watson 1998

Watson JC, Redd SC, Rhodes PH, Hadler SC. The interruption of transmission of indigenous measles in the United States during 1993. *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 1998;**17**(5):363-6; discussion 366-7.

Wells 2000

Wells GA, Shea B, O'Connell D, Peterson J, Welch V, Losos M, Tugwell P. The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for assessing the quality of non randomised studies in meta-analyses. Available from URL : http://www.Iri.ca/programs/ceu/oxford.htm 2000.

WHO 1999

WHO. Measles. Progress towards global control and regional elimination, 1998-1999. *Weekly Epidemiology Records* 1999;74(50):429– 34.

TABLES

Characteristics of included studies

Study	Beck 1989
Methods	Prospective cohort
Participants	196 children aged 12 to 14 months
Interventions	MMR containing 4.1 TCID50 of mumps strain L -Zagreb (information about measles and rubella employed strains not reported, n = 103) versus Placebo (composition unknown, n = 93) No information about doses given and route of immunisation
Outcomes	 Local reactions (redness, swelling, tenderness, 30 days follow up) Temperature > 37.5 °C Catarrhal symptoms Parotid swelling
Notes	The study is reported with minimal details (no population description, no details given on how the groups are selected, how they are assigned, the total population, how measurements are made)
Allocation concealment	D
Study	Benjamin 1992

Methods	Retrospective cohort comparing incidence of joint and limb symptoms in MMR vaccinated children versus
	non-vaccinated

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review)

Participants	5017 children between 1 and 5 years
Interventions	MMR vaccine (strains and doses not specified, 1588 participants included in analysis) versus No treatment (1242 subjects included in analysis)
Outcomes	 Joint complaints, all episodes (arthralgia, possible/probable arthritis) Joint complaints 1st ever episodes (arthralgia, arthritis possible or probable, joint total first ever, limb / joint complaint episodes, hospital admission, GP consultation, sore eyes, convulsion, coryza, parotitis, temperature, rash) Within 6 weeks after immunisation. Data based on a six-week parental recall questionnaire and clinician home visit
Notes	Low response rate in non-immunized group
Allocation concealment	D

Study	Black 1997
Methods	Case-control
Participants	Children 12 to 23 months old from the Vaccine Safety Datalink project. Cases: children with confirmed aseptic meningitis (hospital record, discharge diagnosis and cerebrospinal fluid white blood cell count, n = 59) Controls: Children matching cases by age, sex, HMO membership status (n = 188)
Interventions	Vaccination with MMR (Jeryl Lynn strain only), data from medical records
Outcomes	Risk of AM within 14 days, 30 days, 8 to 14 days of vaccination
Notes	
Allocation concealment	D

Study	Black 2003
Methods	Retrospective case-control
Participants	Cases: children enrolled in the General Practice Research Database (GPRD), aged less than 6 years with idiopathic thrombocytopaenic purpura (ITP, $n = 23$). Cases: children matched with controls by age at index date, practice and sex
Interventions	MMR vaccine (from GPRD records)
Outcomes	Exposure to MMR within 6 weeks or 7 to 26 weeks
Notes	Controls are not described very well (for example, we do not know from which population they are drawn)
Allocation concealment	D

Study	Bloom 1975
Methods	RCT, double blind
Participants	Two hundred and eighty two children
Interventions	Three lots of MMR vaccine (lot 1, 2, 3 prepared from Schwarz live attenuated measles virus, Jerryl Lynn live attenuated measles virus, and Cenedehill live attenuated measles virus
	versus Placebo Vaccines contained at least 1000 TCID50 for measles and rubella and 5000 for mumps

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review)

Outcomes	Observations for intercurrent illness and vaccine reactions made approx. 3 times/child between 7 to 21 days post - Temperature elevation above normal 1.5 °F - Rash
	- Lymphadenopathy
	- Coryza
	- Rhinitis
	- Cough
	- Other
	- Local reaction
	- Limb and joint symptoms
Notes	The study does not say if all children were observed at least once
Allocation concealment	В

Study	Ceyhan 2001
Methods	ССТ
Participants	One thousand infants aged 38 to 40 months from 5 maternity and child health centers in Ankara, Turkey
Interventions	Measles vaccine (Rouvax, Schwarz measles strain, 1000 TCID50) administered at 9 month plus MMR administered at month 15 versus MMR (Trimovax, Schwarz measles strain, 1000 TCID50 ; AM 9 mumps strain, 5000 TCID50 ; Wistar RA/27/3 rubella strain, 1000 TCID 50) administered at months 12 only
Outcomes	 Fever 39.4 °C Runny nose Cough Rash Diarrhea Redness Swelling Even if visits by midwife 7,14,28 days after vaccination to collect adverse reactions records from parents and every 3 month for 60 month phone call/visit for standard questionnaire were carried out, the time of observation for adverse events is not specified

Allocation concealment D

Study	Davis 2001
Methods	Case-control
Participants	Vaccine Safety Datalink Projekt (VSDP) , children enrolled from the 6th month Cases: cases of definite IDB (VSDP, $n = 142$)
	Controls: children matched for sex, HMO and birth year (n = 432)
Interventions	Exposure to MMR or other measles containing vaccines (MCV)
Outcomes	Exposure to MMR or MCV considering any time, within 2 to 4 months, within 6 months
Notes	There are no details of vaccine type - manufacturer, strains, dosage etc
Allocation concealment	D

Study	DeStefano 2002
Methods	Retrospective cohort (from the Vaccine Safety Datalink Project)

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review)

Participants	167,240 children between 18 months and 6 years
Interventions	Exposure to MMR vaccine (and other vaccines)
Outcomes	- Asthma (ICD -9 code 493)
Notes	
Allocation concealment	D

Study	DeStefano 2004
Methods	Retrospective case-control
Participants	Cases: children with autism through the Metropolitan Atlanta Developmental Disabilities Surveillance Pro- gram (MADDSP, $n = 624$) Controls: children matched with cases for age, gender and school attendance ($n = 1824$)
Interventions	Exposure to MMR vaccine (no better defined)
Outcomes	MMR exposure in cases and controls stratified for age groups
Notes	Probable bias in the enrollment in MADDSP and cases may not be representative of the rest of the autistic population of the city
Allocation concealment	D

Study	Dourado 2000
Methods	Before/After. Retrospective study of aseptic meningitis. Pre-mass vaccination campaign versus post cases are compared to determine the incidence of aseptic meningitis
Participants	452,344 children aged 1 to 11 years (from census)
Interventions	Immunisation with MMR vaccine Pluserix (Smith Klein Beecham, cont. mumps strain Urabe)
Outcomes	Aseptic meningitis Periods of 23 weeks pre-vacc and 10 weeks post were compared
Notes	
Allocation concealment	D

Study	Dunlop 1989
Methods	Prospective cohort
Participants	335 healthy children aged about 15 months
Interventions	MMR vaccine Timovax (Merieux, cont. measles strain Schwarz 1000 TCID50, rubella RA 27/3 1000 TCID50, mumps Urabe Am/9 5000 TCID50) versus Measles vaccine Rouvax (Merieux, cont. measles strain Schwarz, 1000 TCID50) Single dose im or sc administered
Outcomes	 Rash Temperature Cough Pallor Diarrhoea Rash nappy Injection site bruise Earache Parotitis Lymphadenopathy Hospitalisation Parental daily diary for 3 wks and wkly for 3 more weeks

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review)

Notes

Allocation concealment D

Study	Edees 1991
Methods	RCT, single blind
Participants	Four hundred twenty healthy children aged between 12 and 18 months
Interventions	MMR vaccine Trimovax (Schwarz measles strain, 1000 TCID50 ; Urabe AM/9 mumps strain, 5000 TCID50 ; RA/27/3 rubella strain, 1000 TCID 50) versus Measles vaccine Rouvax (Schwarz 100 TCID50) Both In upper arm or leg administered
Outcomes	 Local symptoms: erythema, induration, pain General - specific symptoms: rash, parotitis, conjunctivitis, testicular swelling, arthralgia, arthritis, convul sions General non-specific symptoms: temperature, adenopathy, nasopharyngeal disorders, gastrointestinal dis orders, restlessness. Diary completed by parents daily for 3 weeks with a further 3 weekly observations
Notes	
Allocation concealment	D
Study	Fombonne 2001
Methods	Retrospective cohort
Participants	283 children from three cohorts of children with pervasive development disorders (PDD)
Interventions	Testing several causal hypothesis between exposure to MMR and developing of PDD
Outcomes	All cases were accurately assessed by a multidisciplinary team and in most cases data were summarised and extracted on standard forms
Notes	The number and possible impact of biases in this study is so high that interpretation of the results is impossible
Allocation concealment	D
Study	Freeman 1993
Methods	Before/After. Children due to receive MMR (over a 1 year period) were assigned to receive the vaccine (MMF II) at either 13 or 15 months, depending on the random assignment of their family physician
Participants	Children receiving MMR
Interventions	MMR - MMRII (Merck Sharp & Dohme) administered at either 13 or 15 months
Outcomes	 Cough Temperature Rash Eyes runny Nose runny Lymphadenopathy Hospital admission Assessed by daily diaries (from 4 wks before to 4 wks post vaccination)
Notes	Only ~67% of the participants (253 out of 376) completed the study. It is not explained how delays in vaccination, for some participants, effect the 8 week diary
	5

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review)

Allocation concealment D

Study	Jonville-Bera 1996
Methods	Ecological study to assess the association between MMR and the onset of thrombocytopenic purpura (TP)
Participants	Data from the French passive survey between 1984 and June 30th 1992. The 60 cases with outcome (TP) were mainly toddlers
Interventions	Immunisation with MMR (n = 4,396,645), measles (n = 860,938), mumps (n = 172,535), rubella DTP and ingle rubella (n = 2,295,307), measles/rubella (n = 1,480,058)
Outcomes	Cases of thrombocytopenic purpura diagnosed at one of the 30 survey centers after. All case within 45 days from vaccination. Over 8 years period immunisation
Notes	The denominator is determined by the number of doses distributed
Allocation concealment	D

Study	Lerman 1981
Methods	RCT, double blind
Participants	Five hundred two healthy children aged between 15 months and 5 years
Interventions	MMR vaccine (Merck Sharp & Dohme) with HPV - 77: DE - 5 rubella strain versus
	MMR vaccine (MMRII) with Wistar RA 27/3 rubella strain versus
	Measles vaccine (Merck Sharp & Dohme) VS
	Mumps vaccine (Merck Sharp & Dohme) versus
	Rubella vaccine HPV 77 : CE - 5 versus
	Rubella vaccine Wistar RA 27/3 versus
	Placebo (vaccine diluent) One dose subcutaneously
Outcomes	 Local reactions (pain, redness or swelling at the injection site within 4 days after immunisation) Temperature > 38 °C at 6 weeks Respiratory symptoms (6 wks) Rash (6 wks)
	- Lymphadenopathy (6 wks) - Sore eyes (6 wks)
	- Joint symptoms (6 wks)
Notes	
Allocation concealment	A

Study	Madsen 2002
Methods	Retrospective cohort
Participants	All Danish children born between Jan 1991 and Dec 1998: 537,303
Interventions	MMR vaccine (cont. measles strain Moraten, mumps Jeryl Lynn, rubella Wistar RA 27 / 3) versus Pre-vaccination or non-vaccinated person/years
Outcomes	- Autism (ICD-10 code F84.0, DSM-IV code 299.00) - Autistic-spectrum disorder (ICD-10 codes F84.1 - F84.9, DSM-IV codes 299.10 - 299.80)

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review)

Notes The follow up of diagnostic records ends one year (31 Dec 1999) after the last day of admission to the cohort. Because of the length of time from birth to diagnosis, it becomes increasingly unlikely that those born later in the cohort could have a diagnosis

Allocation concealment D

Study	Makela 2002
Methods	Person-time cohort study
Participants	561,089 children aged between 1 and 7 years at the time of vaccination
Interventions	Immunisation with MMR 2 vaccine (Merck, cont. measles strain Enders Edmonston, mumps Jeryl Lynn and rubella Wistar RA 27) during a national Immunisation Campaign
Outcomes	- Encephalitis - Aseptic meningitis - Autism
Notes	Incidence of outcomes during the first 3 months after immunisation was compared with that in the following period (from 3 to 24 months after immunisation)
Allocation concealment	D

Study	Makino 1990
Methods	Prospective cohort
Participants	1638 healthy children
Interventions	MMR vaccine MPR (Kitasato Institute, Japan cont. measles AIK-C 5000 TCID50 , mumps Hoshino 15000 TCID50 and rubella Takahashi 32000 TCID50) versus Measles vaccine (Kitasato Institute, cont. measles AIK-C 25000 TCID50) versus Mumps vaccine (Kitasato Institute, cont. mumps Hoshino 10000 TCID50)
Outcomes	 Temperature, axillary (up to 37.5 °C or up to 39.0 °C) Rash (mild, moderate or severe) Lymphadenopathy Parotitis Cough Vomiting Diarrhea Within twenty-eight days after vaccination
Notes	Inadequate description of the cohorts
Allocation concealment	D

Study	Miller 1989
Methods	Prospective cohort
Participants	12023 healthy children aged 1 to 2 years
Interventions	MMR vaccine (Immrawa or Pluserix, both containing measle strain Schwarz, rubella RA 27/3, mumps Urabe 9)
	versus Measles vaccine (not described) Single dose

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review)

Outcomes	- Temperature (2 or more days over 21 days) - Rash (2 or more days over 21 days) - Anorexia (2 or more days over 21 days)
	- Number of symptoms for 1 day only (daily diary completed by parents)
Notes	The study reports that 84% of diaries/questionnaires completed but only analysed 65%
Allocation concealment	D

Study	Park 2004
Methods	Case-crossover. The design divides the study period (1 year of 365 days) into a hazard period (42 days after MMR - or before meningitis as defined by the authors) and a control period of 323 days
Participants	Children aged 13 to 29 months
Interventions	Immunisation with MMR
Outcomes	Cases of aseptic meningitis before and after immunisation
Notes	There is a likelihood of selection bias which the authors dismiss as they say that moving (probable cause of wrong phone numbers) is not associated with MMR exposure. The missing 27% of hospital records is also worrying

Allocation concealment D

Allocation concealment A

Study	Peltola 1986
Methods	RCT, double blind
Participants	Six thousand eighty six pairs of twins aged between 14 months and 6 years
Interventions	MMR vaccine (Vivirac, Merck Sharp & Dohme) versus Placebo One 0.5 ml dose subcutaneously administered
Outcomes	 Temperature (< 38.5 °C; 38.6 to 39.5 °C; > 39.5 °C) rectal Irritability Drowsiness Willingness to stay in bed Rash generalised Conjunctivitis Arthropathy Tremor peripheral Cough and/or coryza Nausea or vomiting Diarrhoea Measured by parental completed questionnaire for 21 days - parents given a thermometer

Study	Robertson 1988
Methods	Prospective cohort
Participants	319 children aged 13 months
Interventions	MMR vaccine (Merieux, cont. measles strain Schwarz, mumps Urabe AM/9 and rubella Wistar RA 27/3) versus Measles vaccine (Schwarz strain)

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review)

	Allocation by parental choice
Outcomes	- Irritability
	- Rash
	- Coryza
	- Temperature (parental touch)
	- Cough
	- Lethargy
	- Diarrhoea
	- Vomiting
	- Anorexia
	- Conjunctivitis
	- Lymphadenopathy
	- Parotitis
	- Local reactions
	- No symptoms
	- Paracetamol use
	- Seen by GP
	- Convulsion
	Parental completed diaries of symptoms. Three week follow up
Notes	

Allocation concealment D

Study	Schwarz 1975
Methods	Multicentre-RCT, double blind.
Participants	Altogether 1481 healthy children from different countries in N and S America were allocated
Interventions	Three lots of MMR vaccine (Liutrin, Do Chemical containing live attenuated measles strain Schwarz, at least 1000 TCID50; mumps live strain Jeryly Lynn, at least 5000 TCID50; live rubella Cenedehill strain, at least 1000 TCID50) versus Placebo One dose subcutaneously administered
Outcomes	Axillary and rectal temperature, rash, lymphadenopathy, Conjunctivitis, Otitis Media, Coryza, Rhinitis, Pharyngitis, Cough, Headache, Parotitis, Orchitis, Arthalgia, Paresthesia, Site adverse events, Hypersensitivity. Children were observed for adverse events approximately 3 times each between 7 to 21 days
Notes	- Age restriction (1 to 4 years) was not enforced - A large number of patients were missing from all observations
Allocation concealment	D

Study	Smeeth 2004
Methods	Retrospective case-control study
Participants	All person born in 1973 or later registered in the General Practice Research Database (GPRD) Cases: Subjects with diagnosis of pervasive developmental disorders Controls: individuals matched to cases by year of birth or by practice registration
Interventions	Exposure to MMR vaccination from birth to index date (date of the first diagnosis with PDD)
Outcomes	Number of MMR vaccination among cases and controls prior to PDD diagnosis and prior PDD diagnosis and 3rd birthday
Notes	
Allocation concealment	D

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review)

Study	Stokes 1971
Methods	Prospective cohort
Participants	Altogether 966 children (334 in the US and 632 in Cost Rica)
Interventions	MMR vaccine (Merck Sharp & Dohme cont. measles strain Moraten 1000 TCID50, mumps strain Jeryl Lynn 5000 TCID50, rubella strains HPV - 77 1000 TCID50) one dose subcutaneous versus No treatment
Outcomes	 Temperature (> 38 °C in US, no range given in Costa Rica) Conjunctivitis Upper respiratory tract illness Lymphadenopathy Gastroenteritis Fretfulness Malaise and anorexia Measles-like rash Arthralgia (only in Costa Rica) Follow up 28 days
Notes	
Allocation concealment	D

Study	Swartz 1974
Methods	Prospective cohort
Participants	59 children aged 1 to 6 years (mean about 2 years)
Interventions	MMR vaccine (Merck Institute for Therapeutic Research) versus
	Mumps - rubella vaccine (Merck Institute for Therapeutic Research) versus
	Rubella vaccine (Merck - Meruvax HPV 77-DE5
	No information about doses and schedule
Outcomes	- Temperature (37.2 to 38.2; 38.3 to 39.3; over 39.4)
	- Lymphadenopathy
	- Enanthema
	- Conjunctivitis
	- Rash
	Complaints any (up to 60 days)
	Follow up 7 to 15 days
Notes	
4.11 . 1	

Allocation	concea	lment	D

Study	Taylor 1999
Methods	Case-coverage comparing incidence of autistic disorders in eight health districts in UK
Participants	Four hundred and ninety eight children with autism
Interventions	MMR vaccine and, in some cases, Measles or MR vaccines identified through a computerised register
Outcomes	Typical and atypical autism and Asperger's syndrome. No definition given, but identification of some of the cases was made through ICD 10 codes
Notes	The absence of unvaccinated controls limits the inductive statements that can be made from this study
Allocation concealment	D

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review)

Study	Vestergaard 2004
Methods	Person-time cohort study
Participants	537,171 Danish children
Interventions	Exposure to MMR vaccine (cont measles strain Moraten, Mumps Jeryl Lynn and rubella Wistar)
Outcomes	Febrile seizure (ICD definition) in children aged 3 months to 5 years: cases occurred within 2 weeks after vaccination and cases occurred after this time
Notes	
Allocation concealment	D

Study	Weibel 1980
Methods	Prospective cohort
Participants	135 children
Interventions	MMR vaccine (Merck, cont. measles strain Moraten, mumps Jeryl Lynn, rubella RA 27 / 3) versus Rubella vaccine (strain RA 27 / 3)
	One dose subcutaneous
Outcomes	- Temperature > 38 °C - Rash - Lymphadenopathy - Arthralgia - Myalgia - Anorexia Follow up 42 days
Notes	No information given on how the children were distributed between the three arms. Sparse detail on safety data collection procedures
Allocation concealment	D

Study	da Cunha 2002
Methods	Before/After study to see if there is increased risk of acute aseptic meningitis and mumps in children aged 1 to 11 years in two regions of Brazil, Mato Grosso do Sul and Mato Grosso (MS and MT)
Participants	About 845,000 children aged between 1 and 11 years
Interventions	MMR vaccine containing Leningrad - Zagreb mumps strain (SerumInstitute of India Ltd)
Outcomes	Aseptic meningitis (clinical diagnosis or notification form). Thirty one (in MT) or thirty seven (in MS) weeks before and ten weeks after vaccination campaign
Notes	
Allocation concealment	D
n = number im = Intra-muscular sc = subcutaneous wks = weeks	

Characteristics of excluded studies

Akobeng 1999	No original research - review
Andre 1984	No direct data on MMR; only observation that it may interfere with varicella vaccine
Anonymous 1982	Non comparative

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review)

	No original data
Anonymous 1999	Not original research - review
Aozasa 1982	Not MMR vaccine
Autret 1996	Epidemiological survey comparing onset of ITP following vaccination with MMR compared to M, M and R
Balraj 1995	Review on mumps vaccine
Beck 1991	Assesses safety of MMR vaccination in children allergic to eggs
Beeler 1996	Case series
Benjamin 1991	No new research review
Berger 1988a	Serology outcomes only
Berger 1988b	Serology (seroconversion) outcomes only
Berlin 1983	Surveillance data
Bhargava 1995	Non-comparative
Borgono 1973	Insufficient data presented
Bruno 1997	Compares two types of MMR
Buntain 1976	Case report
Buynak 1969	Several study - non-comparative
Chang 1982	No adverse effect data
Chen 1991	Individuals over 15 years
Chen 2000	Review
Chiodo 1992	Non-comparative
Cinquetti 1994	Compares two types of MMR
Contardi 1989	Non-comparative
Contardi 1992	Compares three types of MMR
Coplan 2000	Does not compare against a single component or do-nothing
D'Argenio 1998	No safety data
D'Souza 2000	Non-comparative
Dales 2001	Non-comparative
Dankova 1995	No adverse event data
Dashefsky 1990	MMR not given independently
Davis 1997	MMR not given independently
DeStefano 2000	Duplicate data
Deforest 1986	MMR given with DTP and OPV in different schedules
Deforest 1988	DTP/OPV plus or minus MMR versus placebo or without MMR
Dobrosavljevic 1999	Case report
Dos Santos 2002	MMR versus MMR
Ehrenkranz 1975	Duplicate data Schwarz, Jackson, Ehrenkran, 1975
Elphinstone 2000	Data free
Englund 1989	MMR not given independently
Farrington 1996	Non-comparative
	No new data
Farrington 2001	NO new data

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review)

Garrido L 1992	Non-comparative
Geier 2004	Uncertain MMR focus, mixed with thimerosal
Griffin 1991	Non-comparative
Grilli 1992	Comparison of different types of measles in MMR
Huang 1990	No safety data
Ipp 2003	Head-to-head of two types of MMR
Jones 1991	Non-comparative
Just 1985	Comparison of different types of MMR; CCT with serological outcomes
Just 1986	MMR not given independently - comparison of MMR plus or minus varicella vaccine
Just 1987a	Not given independently - comparison of MMR plus or minus OPV
Just 1987b	Comparison of MMR plus or minus DTP
Kaaber 1990	Comparison of MMR with or without other vaccine versus other vaccines (DTP and OPV)
Karim 2002	Case report
Kaye 2001	Non-comparative
Kazarian 1978	Case report
Kiepiela 1991	RCT of two types of measles vaccine
Kurtzke 1997	Case-control of exposure to anything/measles vaccine and MS
Lee 1998	Data free
Lucena 2002	No comparator
Maekawa 1991	Non-comparative - non-inferential
Maguire 1991	Non-comparative
Marolla 1998	No safety data
Matter 1995	Non-comparative
Matter 1997	Seroprevalence study
Miller 1983	Non-comparative; egg allergy
Miller 1993	Non-comparative
Miller 2001	Non-comparative
Miller 2002	No new data
Min 1991	Compares two types of MMR
Minekawa 1974	Non-comparative
Mommers 2004	MMR and all other childhood vaccines, indistinguishable comparison
Nalin 1999	No data
Nicoll 1998	No data
Noble 2003	Follow up of the Madsen et al study with some data about resurgence of measles in Japan after vaccination became optional
O'Brien 1998	No data presented
Patja 2000	Non-comparative
Patja 2001	Non-comparative
Pekmezovic 2004	Not about MMR
Peltola 1998	Non-comparative case series
Puvvada 1993	Non-comparative case series
Ramos-Alvarez 1976	Duplicate publication of Schwarz, Jackson, Ehrenkranz 1975

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review)

Sabra 1998	Data free
Scarpa 1990	Non-comparative
Schettini 1989	No safety data
Schettini 1990	Non-comparative
Schwarzer 1998	Compares two types of MMR
Seagroatt 2003	Assesses measles vaccine
Shinefield 2002	MMR not given independently
Spitzer 2001	No data
Stetler 1985	DTP vaccine
Stokes 1967	No safety data
Stratton 1994	Review
Sugiura 1982	Data not reported by arm
Ueda 1995	Compares two types of MMR
Vesikari 1979	No new data review
Vesikari 1984	Compares two types of MMR
Wakefield 1998	Case series
Wakefield 1999a	No comparative data
Wakefield 1999b	No data
Wakefield 2000	No comparative data
Walters 1975	Redundant publication: Schwarz, Jackson, Ehrenkranz 1975
Wilson 2003	Systematic review
Woyciechowska 1985	Not MMR
Yamashiro 1998	Children past age limit

ADDITIONAL TABLES

Table 01. Summary of salient characteristic of RCTs and CCTs included in the review

Study	Population enrolled	Risk of bias	Likely bias	Generalisability
Bloom 1975	282	High	Reporting	Low
Ceyan 2001	1000	Moderate	Detection	Medium
Edees 1991	420	Moderate	Detection	Medium
Lerman 1981	502	Low	Detection	Medium
Peltola 1986	686	Low	Detection	High
Schwarz 1975	1481	High	Reporting	Low

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review)

Temp. increment (C)	Measurement site	Reporting frequency	Observation period	Reference
38.0 - 38.4	Axilla	All episodes	21	Schwarz 1975
38.0 - 38.4	Rectal	All episodes	21	Schwarz 1975
38.5 - 38.9	Axilla	All episodes	21	Schwarz 1975
38.5 - 38.9	Rectal	All episodes	21	Schwarz 1975
38.6 - 39.5	Not reported	Mean number of episodes	21	Peltola 1986
39.0 - 39.4	Axilla	All episodes	21	Schwarz 1975
39.0 - 39.4	Rectal	All episodes	21	Schwarz 1975
39.5 - 39.9	Axilla	All episodes	21	Schwarz 1975
39.5 - 39.9	Rectal	All episodes	21	Schwarz 1975
40.0 - 40.4	Rectal	All episodes	21	Schwarz 1975
Up to 38.5	Not reported	Mean number of episodes	21	Peltola 1986
> 1 C above normal	Not reported	First episode	21	Bloom 1975
> 38	Not reported	All episodes	42	Lerman 1981
Not reported	Not reported	First episode	21	Edees 1991
Up to 39.5	Not reported	Mean number of episodes	21	Peltola 1986

Table 02. Reporting of temp. in RCTs (MMR versus single components/placebo/do-nothing)

Table 03. Summary of salient characteristics of Cohort studies included in the review

Study	Population enrolled	Risk of bias	Likely bias	Generalisability
Beck 1989	196 *	High	Selection	Low
Benjamin 1992	5017	Moderate	Detection	Medium
Dunlop 1989	335	High	Selection	Low
Makino 1990	1638	High	Selection	Low
Miller 1989	12185	High	Reporting	Low
Robertson 1988	319	Moderate	Selection	Medium
Stokes 1971	966	High	Selection	Low
Swartz 1974	59	High	Selection	Low
Weibel 1980	135	High	Selection	Low
Madsen 2002	537303	Moderate	Detection	High
Fombonne 2001	263	High	Selection	Low
Makela 2002	561089	Moderate	Selection	Medium
Vestergaard 2004	537171	Low	Selection	High

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review)

Study	Population enrolled	Risk of bias	Likely bias	Generalisability
DeStefano 2002	167240	Moderate	Selection	Medium

 Table 03. Summary of salient characteristics of Cohort studies included in the review
 (Continued)

* The number enrolled is unclear

Table 04. Summary of salient characteristics of other study designs included in the review

Study	Design	Population	Risk of bias	Likely bias	Generalisability
Davis 2001	Case - control	211	Low	-	High
Black 1997	Case - control	587	Low	-	High
DeStefano 2004	Case - control	2448	Moderate	Selection	Medium
Black 2003	Case - control	139	Moderate	Selection	Medium
Smeeth 2004	Case - control	10697	Moderate	Selection	Medium
Dourado 2000	Before and after	452,344	Moderate	Detection	Medium
Freeman 1993	Before and after	375	High	Attrition	Low
Jonville-Bera 1996	Ecological	9,205,483*	Moderate	Selection	Medium
Taylor 1999	Case-coverage	498	Moderate	Confounding	Medium
Park 2004	Case-crossover	39	Moderate	Selection	Medium
Da Cuhna 2002	Before and after	845,889	Moderate	Selection	High

*Estimated number of vaccine doses

GRAPHS AND OTHER TABLES

This review has no analyses.

INDEX TERMS

Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

Adolescent; Autistic Disorder [etiology]; Clinical Trials; Crohn Disease [etiology]; Measles [*prevention & control]; Measles-Mumps-Rubella Vaccine [administration & dosage; *adverse effects]; Mumps [*prevention & control]; Rubella [*prevention & control]; Vaccines, Attenuated [administration & dosage; adverse effects]

MeSH check words

Child; Humans

COVER SHEET

Title	Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children
Authors	Demicheli V, Jefferson T, Rivetti A, Price D
Contribution of author(s)	VD, TOJ and DP designed the protocol and carried out data extraction.

Vaccines for measles, mumps and rubella in children (Review)

	safety searches. All authors contributed to the final draft.
Issue protocol first published	2003/3
Review first published	2005/4
Date of most recent amendment	24 August 2005
Date of most recent SUBSTANTIVE amendment	16 August 2005
What's New	Information not supplied by author
Date new studies sought but none found	Information not supplied by author
Date new studies found but not yet included/excluded	Information not supplied by author
Date new studies found and included/excluded	20 December 2004
Date authors' conclusions section amended	Information not supplied by author
Contact address	Dr Vittorio Demicheli Servizo Sovrazonale di Epidemiologia ASL 20, Via Venezia 6 Alessandria Piemonte 15100 ITALY E-mail: demichelivittorio@asl20.piemonte.it Tel: +39 0131 307821 Fax: +39 0131 307847
DOI	10.1002/14651858.CD004407.pub2
Cochrane Library number	CD004407
Editorial group	Cochrane Acute Respiratory Infections Group
Editorial group code	HM-ARI

VD arbitrated on study inclusion. AR carried out the effectiveness assessmenta nd updated